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Celebrating 25 years of serving you (1997 - 2022)

VENTURE Credit Union is built on the spirit of the family
bond. It’s the essence of caring and encouragement to
succeed. That’s what we have striven for over the past 25
years.
We have emerged as a pillar of strength – a vision which
seemed daunting in 1997 when FedChem and GRASTAFF
credit unions merged to create VENTURE. But we found
our tempo as we settled and established ourselves as the
Credit Union for workers and their families on the Pt. Lisas
Industrial Estate.

Proud to be

At that time, we had a share capital of $35 million and 1,500
members. Then, a significant move was our transition from
a closed bond to a national network. This meant opening
our doors to the public and receiving members nationwide.
Later on, in 1999 and 2008, we incorporated the Couva
and Arouca Community Credit Unions, respectively.
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The Cover Design Story

The Cover design started as an abstract design gradually
flowing into the life and vitality of VENTURE’s Story.
Each wave of colour shows how each stage of the last 25
years is individual but blends together. The brand colours
form waves to signify where we have started, and where
we have grown to. The colours show the different credit
unions merging together to become one. The hands in
the background show the strength and vitality of Us, the
members of VENTURE Credit Union.

Between 2002 and 2008, we balanced business
development and stability while navigating growing pains
and partnerships. In all of this, we never forgot how to
have fun – celebrating successes, enjoying each other’s
company out of the office, even sharing our love for travel
on the high seas when we organized cruises.
By our 10th anniversary, in 2007, our membership had
expanded to 10,000 members. Three years later, at the
end of 2010, our asset base stood at almost $450 million
with a total active membership of approximately 13,000.
The following year, in 2011, we opened our Arouca and San
Fernando branches.
In leveraging technology, we have embraced new business
systems and information technology (IT) platforms to
propel our service delivery forward.
The common denominator in all of these achievements
over the past 25 years is our membership. We have helped
people transform their lives and achieve their dreams,
extending credit based on character and financial ability.
We could not have done this without your confidence in us.
As we celebrate this milestone, we acknowledge the tough
times faced by many members. Weathering economic
storms and developmental change are not for the
weakhearted. Our will to persevere and succeed continues
to be our hallmark as we strive for a brighter future.
This brighter future applies to all of us, whether staff or
member, regardless of economic circumstance or nature
of employment, and is the basis for all of us to claim in one
voice that we are “Proud to be VENTURE.”
Thank you for your membership and the trust you have
placed in us.
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

OUR VISION
To be regarded by our family of Members as the premier
enabler of personal financial strength and as a strong pillar in
the Credit Union Movement.

OUR MISSION
VENTURE Credit Union is committed to the improvement
of the economic and social well-being of its Members,
through the innovative use of technology and good corporate
governance, while continually enhancing the Member
service experience, with a personal touch and a family-type
atmosphere.

OUR CORE VALUES
Dedication to Service Excellence
Integrity / Transparency
Respect
Inclusion
Empathy
Innovativeness
Efficiency
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VENTURE’S ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
MEMBERS

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

CREDIT
COMMITTEE

INTERNAL
AUDIT
EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS:

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

The Board of Directors is elected by the Credit Union
Members during the Annual General Meeting (AGM) and
reports to the general membership. Directors are elected
for a three (3) year term.

The Supervisory Committee examines the affairs of the
Society, including an audit of its books. The Committee
submits an annual report at the Annual General Meeting
to the membership.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors:
•

Directs and controls the affairs of the Society

•

Establishes and revises policy

CREDIT COMMITTEE:

•

Sets loan rates and recommends dividends

The Credit Committee shall be the final authority for
granting all loans in compliance with the Society’s Loan
Policy.
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PRAYER
Lord, make me an instrument of thy peace;
Where there is hatred, let me sow love;
Where there is injury, pardon;
Where there is doubt, faith;
Where there is despair, hope;
Where there is darkness, light; and
Where there is sadness, joy.
O Divine Master, grant that I may not
So much seek to be consoled as to console.
To be understood as to understand;
To be loved as to love.
For it is in giving that we receive;
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;
And it is in dying that we are born to
Eternal life.

NATIONAL ANTHEM
Forged from the love of liberty,
In the fires of Hope and Prayer,
With boundless faith in our Destiny,
We solemnly declare,
Side by side we stand,
Islands of the blue Caribbean Sea,
This our Native Land,
We pledge our lives to Thee,
Here every creed and race find an equal place,
And may God bless our Nation,
Here every creed and race find an equal place,
And may God bless our Nation.

6
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of
VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited will be held virtually on:
Date:			
Time:

Saturday April 09, 2022
9:00 a.m.

The main business of the meeting will be:
1. Confirmation of Minutes and Business Arising:
a. Annual General Meeting held on April 24, 2021
2. Reports for the Year 2021 as follows:
a. Board of Directors
b. Supervisory Committee
c. Credit Committee
d. Nominating Committee Report
3. VENTURE’s 25th Anniversary - recognition
4. Election of Board & Committee Members:
a. Board of Directors		
(3 members – to be elected)
b. Supervisory Committee
(5 members – to be elected)
c. Credit Committee
(2 members – to be elected)
5. Presentation & Acceptance of:
a. Auditor’s Report
b. Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2021
6. Approval of the Budget for 2022
7. Approval of Recommendations and Resolutions
8. Transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO PRE-REGISTER ON
VENTURE’S WEBSITE TO ACCESS MEETING
www.venturecreditunion.com
PRE-REGISTRATION DEADLINE: APRIL 07, 2022
Please Note: Pre-Registration is COMPULSORY for attendance to the virtual AGM.
Members who do not pre-register will not be able to access the meeting.
This is a Members’ forum, as such, ONLY Members will be allowed to attend the meeting - with the
exception of guests specially invited by the Board.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roger Bertrand (Mr.)
Board Secretary
March 25, 2022

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY
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AGENDA
1. Call to Order:
1.1. 1st Credentials Report and Announcement of Quorum
1.2. Prayer and the National Anthem of Trinidad and Tobago

2. Notice Convening the Annual General Meeting
3. Adoption of Standing Orders
4. President’s Welcome Address
5. Announcement of Returning Officer
6. Acceptance of the 2021 Annual General Meeting Brochure to be taken as read
7. Confirmation of Minutes and Business Arising:
7.1. Annual General Meeting of April 24, 2021

8. Adoption of Reports:
8.1. Board of Directors
8.2. Supervisory Committee
8.3. Credit Committee
8.4. Nominating Committee

9. Recognition of VENTURE’s 25th Anniversary
10. Election of Board and Committees:
10.1. 2nd Credentials Report
10.2. Election of nominees to serve on the Supervisory and Credit Committees and Board of Directors

11. Acceptance of Auditor’s Report
12. Approval of the Financial Statements for the year 2021
13. Approval of the Budget for 2022
14. Approval of Recommendations and Resolutions
15. Election Results
16. Transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting
17. Vote of Thanks
18. Close of Meeting

8
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STANDING ORDERS - AGM 2022
1. Only members who have pre-registered and have been successfully validated shall be allowed entry into the meeting.
2. Members must be logged in with their proper names (first and last).
3. The microphones and cameras of all participating members shall be kept off except with permission from the
Chairperson.

4. No member shall be allowed to address the meeting except through the Chairperson.
5. Written questions and comments should be submitted via the Meeting’s Q&A facilities and would be entertained
before requests for verbal participation from members. The AGM Moderator shall collate and transmit questions
to the Chairperson. Questions that are not answered at the meeting, due to time constraints, will be answered and
posted on the website within one week.

6. All questions and comments based on the AGM Report, shall include a reference to the relevant report section.
7. A member’s verbal contribution shall not exceed one (1) minute.
8. A member shall not contribute twice on the same subject except:
a.

As the mover of a motion - who has a right of reply

b.

He / She indicates the desire to object or explain (with permission of the Chairperson)

9. No contributions would be entertained after a motion has been put or carried or rejected.
10. Only one amendment shall be before the meeting at any given time.
11. A member wishing to contribute on a “Point of Order” shall state the point clearly and precisely.
12. A member shall not call another member to order but may draw the attention of the Chairperson to a “breach of
order”.

13. No member shall impute improper motives against another member/attendee.
14. No member shall make references to the Chairperson and/or any attendee that are personally abusive.
15. The Chairperson shall have a right to a casting vote.
16. If there is an equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairperson does not exercise his casting vote, the
amendment is lost.

17. Entry into the meeting will be discontinued 10 minutes before the commencement of Elections.
18. No form of recording of the proceedings shall be allowed without the permission of the Chairperson.
APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON MARCH 10, 2022.
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GUIDELINES FOR ACCEPTING NOMINATIONS TO SERVE
ON THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES 2022/2023
A member offering himself/herself to serve on the Board and Committees of VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative
Society Limited must fulfill the following criteria:

1. Must be over the age of twenty-one (21) years and be an active member for at least two (2) years, both as at
January 31, 2022.

2. Must not be delinquent in his/her loan payments or by way of a guaranteed loan and must not have a record
of culpable delinquency in any other financial institution for the past 24 months, or ever have been declared
bankrupt.

3. There must be no evidence that the nominee has committed an offence involving fraud, violence or dishonesty
as determined by the production of a Police Certificate of Character.

4. Must not now be an employee of VENTURE or have been in the last three (3) years from January 31, 2022.
5. Must not now be an employee any other Financial Co-operative.
6. Must not be a serving member of another Credit Union Board of Directors or Statutory Committee.
7. Must have a sound background of conformance to a code of ethics/conduct consistent with governance of a
financial undertaking.

8. A nominee may not be an immediate family member/relative or have any relationship with a current VENTURE
Board Member or Statutory Committee Member that may pose a conflict of interest.

9. It is desirable that the nominee has experience commensurate with the specific Statutory Committee for which
he/she is interested in serving.

10. Must be a person who would have demonstrated a passionate affiliation to Co-operative principles and also be
prepared to learn “Credit Unionism/Co-operative Principles”.

11. Must be committed to give generously of his/her time to attend meetings and attendant business of Board and
Committees.
If elected to office, a member must be prepared to give generously of his/her time to attend:
• Board or Committee Meetings
•

Other meetings and events of the Credit Union Movement

•

Seminars and training courses

Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors are normally held on the third Thursday of each month.
The Credit Committee meets once per week.
The Supervisory Committee determines its meeting day and method of operations subject to the Bye-laws.

10
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MINUTES OF VENTURE’S
TWENTY FOURTH ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

4.0 PRESIDENT’S WELCOME ADDRESS
4.1. Welcome and acknowledgements

The Annual General Meeting of VENTURE Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited was held on Saturday, April 24, 2021
virtually via Zoom Webinar.
1.0 CALL TO ORDER
1.1. 1st Credential Report and Announcement of Quorum
The President, Mr. Hayden Ferreira, assumed the role of
Chairman and called the meeting to order at 9:12 a.m. A
Credential Report revealed that as at the start of the meeting
one hundred and fifty-two (152) members and five (5) guests
were present. The meeting was therefore duly constituted in
accordance with Bye-law 20.
1.2. Prayer and the National Anthem of Trinidad and
Tobago
The meeting opened with an instrumental rendition of the
National Anthem, after which the Credit Union Prayer was
recited. One-minute silence was observed for departed
members.
2.0 NOTICE CONVENING
MEETING

THE

ANNUAL

ANNUAL
REPORT

GENERAL

The President welcomed all present to the meeting. He
greeted and acknowledged the following specially invited
guests:
Commissioner’s Office
• Cassian George (Returning Officer)
•

Ron Andersen

BDO (Auditors)
• Sue-Ann Williams
Hobsons (Attorneys)
• Berendra Sinanan
•

Sherwin Seenath

Girwar and Deonarine
• Michael Kalicharan
Cuna Caribbean Insurance
• Jasmine Paul De Vignes
Note Taker
• Sheldon Cyrus – Valorem Services Limited

The Notice and Agenda of the Annual General Meeting were
read by the Secretary, Mr. Roger Bertrand.

Webinar Host
• IN Events Caribbean

3.0 ADOPTION OF STANDING ORDERS

4.2. President’s Remarks

The Standing Orders were read by the Secretary.
DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge moved a motion that the
standing orders be adopted. Kevon Beatrice seconded the
motion. The motion was carried by 197 members voting in
favour. 2 members voted against and 8 abstained.

The President advised that the last meeting was six months
ago. It was delayed from its usual timeframe because of the
restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. He highlighted
that the economic challenges faced by the country is
manifested by declining profits of three major banks. This was
due to lower interest rates and interest waivers to customers.

A video tutorial on the use of the Zoom features and AGM
portal was then shown to the members.

He reported that VENTURE’s profits declined as well from
2019 because of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY
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Last year the ICT infrastructure was upgraded and new
protocols were implemented. There was a greater reliance on
technology. Members were served virtually and the number
of members seeking online services has increased.

6.0 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING BROCHURE 2020

An analysis was undertaken on the economic impact of
COVID-19. The President thanked the Board and staff for
their hard work during the pandemic. The Credit Union
remains robust. Policy effectiveness was improved. The
Board and management have begun the process of reviewing
the strategic plan.

The motion was moved by Avinash Persad and seconded by
Kevon Beatrice. The motion was carried by 202 members
voting in favour. 2 members voted against and 12 abstained.

VENTURE’s 50,000 members are diverse and no group is so
large as to have undue influence over the organization. There
was a 9% increase in membership over 2019.

7.1. Confirmation of Minutes of the 23rd Annual General
Meeting

VENTURE continues to play a role in the Central Finance
Facility (CFF) as one of its Committee members serves on the
Board. It also played a role in the Government’s initiative of
$100 million loan facility. The loan facility, however, has not
yet been fully implemented.
The VENTURE debit card will be implemented in ten days as
the issues with JMMB that affected the roll out have been
resolved. The Credit Union bade farewell to its General
Manager, Sales and Services and its Chief Executive Officer
who both left the organization. We wish them all the best. A
recruitment agency has been engaged and the positions will
be filled in the near future. Roxanne Solomon, the General
Manager, Credit Administration, has been appointed to act as
CEO.
The Collections function has been restructured and enhanced.
This has borne favourable results as the level of delinquency
is 4.2% as compared to the industry standard of 5%. It is to
be noted that even when delinquent loan balances are written
off all efforts will still be made to collect. The process of write
-off is an accounting measure and does not mean that the loan
is forgiven.
The Credit Union has benefitted from its three branches
working together as is evidenced by greater disbursements to
members.
The President offered thanks and recognition to the following:
1. Members of the Board.
2.

The Chairmen of the Supervisory Committee,
Mr. Keith London and the Credit Committee, Mr.
Wendell Mitchell.

3.

The former CEO, Mr.
management and staff.

4.

The former Secretary, Ms. Tracey Elcock.

5.

The current Secretary, Mr. Roger Bertrand.

Ramesh

Lutchman,

The Chairman called for a motion for the adoption of the AGM
Report which was taken as read.

7.0 CONFIRMATION
ARISING

AND

BUSINESS

Page 17, first line: “Brenda Louis-Ottley” should be “Glenda
Louis-Ottley”.
7.2. Business Arising
Trevor Rogers asked for an update on the “poor administration”
mentioned on page 12 of the minutes. The President advised
that this was addressed in his presentation. He promised to
call Mr. Rogers on Monday.
8.0 ADOPTION OF REPORTS
8.1. Board of Directors
The President reported that expenses for 2020 were
comparable with expenses for 2019 despite the costs
associated with COVID-19. Revenue and surplus were lower
than in 2019 due largely to the impact of COVID-19. The ratio
of operating expenditure to revenue increased as a result.
The delinquency level was lower in 2020. The write-off
approved in the 2019 AGM has been applied. Disbursements
were higher in the second half of 2020 than in the first half
due in part to adjustments to loan terms. 69% of loans are
performing and 18% are classified as non-performing but
secured, while 13% are non-performing but unsecured.
Even before COVID-19, there was a downturn in the economy.
Loan risk and other weaknesses were addressed through the
following:

The Chairman advised that Cassian George has agreed to be
the Returning Officer.

|

MINUTES

Kendell Kittell moved a motion to confirm the Minutes of
the 23rd Annual General Meeting held on October 17, 2020.
Coreen Isaac seconded the motion. The motion was carried
by 221 members voting in favour. Two (2) members voted
against and five (5) abstained. The confirmation was subject
to the following amendments:

5.0 ANNOUNCEMENT OF RETURNING OFFICER

12

OF

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

•

The Credit Administration Department revised and
strengthened loan policies.

•

The Collections Department was restructured.

•

The structure of the Securities Department was
improved.

2021
Further, the following collections strategies remain ongoing
even after a loan is written off:
•

Filing of disputes at the Cooperative.

•

Vehicle
repossessions,
whereabouts drive.

•

Use of external debt collectors such as AV Knowles.

•

Lodging with AV Knowles and Transunion.

foreclosures

and

The President then invited questions.
8.1.1.
Cathy-Ann Lindsay – Since only a small number of
entities are responsible for most of the delinquency, what
is happening at the Credit Committee stage? How many
entities make up small business loans?
The President advised that every loan passes through the
Credit Committee regardless of size. The Board of Directors
cannot override the Credit Committee. The delinquency
level has reduced because of the better approach to risk
management. This means that better quality (less risky) loans
are being granted. The delinquency represents loans that
came forward from the past.
8.1.2.
Gail O’Brien – Is Collections something that was
implemented?
The President advised that this function already existed,
but it was enhanced. The outcome was better delinquency
numbers.
8.1.3.
Ayonde Small - How many people are in jail? Has
their collateral been sold? Are they still paying?
The President advised that there was no reference to people
being in jail. The President advised that this question was not
related to the Board Report.
Kevon Beatrice moved a motion that the Board Report be
accepted. The motion was seconded by Avinash Persad.
The motion was carried by 207 members voting in favour.
Eleven (11) members voted against and twenty four (24)
abstained.
8.2. Supervisory Committee
Mr. Andre Edwards, Chairman of the Supervisory Committee,
named the Committee members and welcomed all present to
the meeting. He advised that the Report is contained in the
brochure and highlighted the following:
The Committee focussed on the following apart from its
statutory obligations:
1. Audit plan for 2020 in conjunction with the Internal
Audit Department.
2.

Oversight of operations.

3.

Recommendation to the Board and Executive
Management.
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Mr. Edwards then invited questions.
8.2.1.
Helen Bernard – What was the level of attendance of
Committee members to meetings? She noticed that the new
Secretary only attended five meetings. Mr. Edwards advised
that the report is for part of the financial year and some
Committee members changed following the last AGM. The
previous Secretary could not participate in virtual meetings
and was replaced.
8.2.2.
Candice Thomas – What factors caused the high
turnover of senior staff? Is there a succession plan? Was the
Human Resource Manager position filled in March 2020
as planned? Mr. Edwards advised that a Human Resource
Manager was hired as planned. He further advised that
the organization lost some staff due to an uncompetitive
compensation package. A review is being undertaken to
determine the best ways to retain staff.
8.2.3.
Trevor Rogers – Since Mr. Edwards was only
Chairman for three months how come he is reporting for the
whole year? The President advised that due to the timing of
the meetings and the change of the Committee’s membership,
there might be replacement during the year. When there is
a change in Chairmanship during the year, the new Chairman
will get feedback from the previous Chairman. This is the
norm, however, last year was skewed because the AGM was
later than usual.
8.2.4.
Chris John – What is the purpose of the Alternative
Members? The President advised that Bye-law 22 (b) sets out
the role of Alternative Members. He read the Bye-law to the
meeting.
Avinash Persad moved a motion to accept the Report of
the Supervisory Committee. The motion was seconded by
Kevon Beatrice. The motion was carried by 238 members
voting in favour. 9 members voted against and 11 abstained.
8.3. Credit Committee
Mr. Wendell Mitchell, Chairman of the Credit Committee,
named the Committee members and welcomed all to the
AGM. He advised that the Report is contained in the brochure
and then proceeded to highlight the following:
1.

The Committee maintained oversight of the credit
portfolio.

2.

Weekly approval meetings were held. 50 were held.

3.

17 virtual member meetings were held.

4.

1,293 loans applications were reviewed. 888 were
approved.

5.

There was a 42% decrease in approvals as compared
to 2019 because of the state of the economy. Fewer
members were able to qualify.

Mr. Mitchell then invited questions.

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

|

13

VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

8.3.1.
Reanne Slater – a lot of members are of the view that
VENTURE’s requirements for a loan have been resembling
those of the banks. There is increased difficulty in obtaining
a loan and fulfilling the procedural requirements. She
congratulated the management for the seasonal promotions.
The President advised that the comments will be taken on
board. He undertook to have management review the loan
procedures.
8.3.2.
Marc Joseph – Does a loan waiver need to be
approved by the Credit Committee? Mr. Mitchell advised that
all loans and any adjustments, including waivers, are to be
approved by the Credit Committee.
Kevon Beatrice moved a motion that the Report of the
Credit Committee be accepted. Avinash Persad seconded
the motion. The motion was carried by 239 members voting
in favour. 6 members voted against and 18 abstained.
8.4. Nominating Committee
Mr. Cole Patrick, Chairman of the Nominating Committee,
named the Committee members and welcomed all to the
AGM. He advised that the Report is contained in the brochure.
He advised that the credentials of all 24 nominees were
reviewed and found to be in order. The certificates of
character from the police were not available. Once they are
obtained they will be presented. If there is a problem with
someone who was elected that prevents them from obtaining
a good certificate, then the alternate will serve.
Charlene Parris-Beharry asked if there was a maximum age
to serve? The President advised that there was no maximum
age.
Kevon Beatrice moved a motion that the Report of the
Nomination Committee be accepted. Avinash Persad
seconded the motion. The motion was carried by 251
members voting in favour. 3 members voted against and 10
abstained.
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9.0 ELECTION OF BOARD AND COMMITTEES
The President invited the Returning Officer to preside over the
meeting at this point.
A video highlighting the nominees was shown to members. An
instructional video was then shown advising members on the
voting procedure. Members were given an opportunity to log
on to the portal.
9.1. 2nd Credential Report
The Returning Officer reported that four hundred and sixtyfour (464) members and three (3) guests were logged on.
9.2. Election of nominees to serve on Committees and the
Board of Directors
The Returning Officer advised that Esther Olliver-Seepersad
withdrew her nomination to the Board of Directors.
She further advised that three (3) seats on the Board of
Directors, five (5) on the Supervisory Committee and two (2)
on the Credit Committee are declared vacant and opened the
voting process. Voting was closed after 15 minutes and the
Returning Officer advised that the results will be declared
later in the meeting.
The President presided over the meeting at this point.
10.0 ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITOR’S REPORT
Sue-Ann Williams of BDO, the External Auditors, presented
the Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements for the year
ending December 31, 2020.
Devon Ashby moved a motion that the Auditor’s Report on
the Financial Statements for the year ending December 31,
2020, be accepted. Avinash Persad seconded the motion.
The motion was carried by 160 members voting in favour. 5
members voted against and 13 abstained.
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The President advised that since BDO’s presentation was a
recording and not live, there can be no questions during the
meeting. He advised that questions can be sent via the portal
and answers will be provided at a later date.
11.0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020

ANNUAL
REPORT

statements and reminded members that only questions so
related will be entertained at this time.
11.2.
Shenelle Clement – Did COVID-19 cause a reduction
in borrowing? The Accounting Manager advised that while
this is possible it is not proven. She reported that there was an
increase in borrowing from mid 2020.

The Chairman introduced Mrs. Melba Mollineau, Accounting
Manager, and Mr. Hayden Lovell, Accountant, from the
Accounts Department. The Accounting Manager presented
the Financial Statements, which are contained in the
brochure. She highlighted the following.

11.3.
Gail Sooknarine – Did VENTURE assess why
members are not coming to the Credit Union as their primary
source of borrowing? The President pointed out that this
question did not relate to the financials.

There was a 1.6% decline in Total Assets from $1.55 billion in
2019 to $1.52 billion in 2020.

11.4.
Renny Forde – He stated that more than once he
sought a loan but was unsuccessful. He reminded all present
that VENTURE belongs to the members.

There was a decline in Loans to Members from $685 million
in 2019 to $636 million in 2020. The approved write-off of
$19.5 million contributed to this decline. Loan disbursements
were also 22% lower in 2020 than in 2019. $170.3 million
in loans was repaid in 2020. This was more than the 2020
disbursements, which also contributed to the lower loans
figure.
Surplus cash inflows were used for investments. Investments
increased by 12% or $57 million over 2019. There was an
overall decline in Cash and Cash Equivalents from $332
million to $308 million. Members’ shares also declined.
Total Revenue declined by 26% or $28 million due to the
decline in Interest on Loans. There were a number of loan
promotions which helped but the average loan was smaller
than in 2019.
Total Expenditure declined by 3% due to prudent management
of expenditure. Other Expenses declined from over $2 million
to $500,000.
There was an increase in Expected Credit Losses on Loans
from $7.5 million to $10.3 million. Expected Credit Losses
rather than incurred credit losses are recognized from an
accounting perspective in compliance with IFRS 9 Standard.
This impacted the credit losses figure.
Net Surplus was $29 million in 2020 as compared to $55
million in 2019.
10% of the surplus was placed in the Reserved Fund and 90%
was allocated to undivided earnings. The Reserved Fund is
protected by law and cannot be touched.
Overall cashflow shows that VENTURE is still quite liquid in
2020.
The Accounting Manager now invited questions.
11.1.
Alicia Fields – Why can’t members get a loan on
shares to build credit? The President advised that this
question did not arise from the presentation on the financial

11.5.
Favion Taylor – With specific reference to page
70 note 8.6, why was the provisioning reduced for expected
credit losses even though year-on-year the Stage 3 principal
increased? The Accounting Manager undertook to check and
provide an answer subsequently.
11.6.
Candice Thomas – What are the Board and
Committee expenses? The Accounting Manager advised
that this comprises conferences, seminars, stipend and
insurance. The figure was lower in 2019 because there were
no conferences attended in 2020.
Wayne Nigel Lewis moved a motion that the Financial
Statements for the year ending December 31, 2020 be
accepted. Kathy-Ann Millette-Roach seconded the motion.
The motion was carried by 189 members voting in favour. 10
members voted against and 16 abstained.
12.0 APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET FOR 2021
The President advised that the Budget is contained in the
brochure and will be taken as read. He informed the members
that the Board is contemplating buying a building in San
Fernando to replace the existing location which is a rental
arrangement. The current location has become unsatisfactory
and given the economic downturn, now is a good time to buy.
He invited questions.
12.1.
Charlene Parris-Beharry – The cost of the building
seems high. Can VENTURE use a building from a member
and retrofit it as opposed to purchasing in these uncertain
times? The President advised that the $12 million figure was a
ceiling and the actual cost may be lower. Some buildings have
been looked at. He advised further that the use of a member’s
property can be tricky as such property is usually used as
collateral for a loan from VENTURE. Further, there are time
challenges with taking over property used as collateral.
12.2.
Charlene Parris-Beharry – Does VENTURE intend
to increase staff or salaries since staff costs are budgeted
higher than 2020 costs. The President advised that there is no
intention to increase staff. The Accounting Manager advised
that the budget captures an increase in salaries because as a
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unionized entity it is prudent for VENTURE to make such a
provision. The budgeted increases may not materialize in this
financial year depending on the stage of negotiations. The
figure also caters for filling of vacancies.
12.3.
Charlene Parris-Beharry - Why is advertising
cost higher than in 2020? The Accounting Manager
advised that more advertising is planned for 2021. In 2020
advertising attracted business. The intention is to maintain
this momentum. The President advised that VENTURE has
been getting favourable advertising rates because of the
relationships it has built up over the recent years. In particular,
during the COVID-19 period when most businesses did little
advertising, VENTURE increased its advertising at favourable
rates.
12.4.
Brian Morris – What is the main driver for the $5
million expenditure for computers etc.? The Accounting
Manager advised that enhancements are needed for the
existing infrastructure upgrade and that both hardware
and software are being upgraded. This will improve service
delivery to members. $1.3 million is to be spent on hardware
and $3.6 million on software.
A motion was moved by Kevon Beatrice and seconded by
Richard Ramcharan that the Budget for 2021 be approved.
The motion was carried by 172 members voting in favour.
13 members voted against and 15 abstained.
13.0 APPROVAL OF RECOMMENDATIONS AND
RESOLUTIONS
13.1.

Distribution of Surplus

13.1.1. The President advised that the Board of Directors
proposes a dividend of 2% and a rebate of 2%.
13.1.2. This Distribution of Surplus to members was
seconded by Kendell Kittell and was accepted by the
members with 118 voting in favour. 52 members voted
against and 17 abstained.
13.2.

13.3.2. The $50,000 allocation to the Children’s Foundation was
seconded by Kevon Beatrice and approved by the members by
197 voting in favour. 9 members voted against and 8 abstained.
13.4.

13.4.1. The President proposed on behalf of the Board
of Directors that an allocation of $100,000 be made to the
Member of the Future Allocation be approved.
13.4.2. The $100,000 allocation to the Member of the
Future Allocation was seconded by Kendell Kittell and was
approved by the members by 168 voting in favour. 26
members voted against and 14 abstained.
The President advised that there will be a change in the order
in which the Resolutions would be taken since the resolution
to amend the Bye-law has its own specific protocol which is
governed by the Co-operative Societies Act. That resolution
will be taken last.
13.5.

Be it resolved that BDO be re-appointed as External Auditors
for the period January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021.
13.5.2. The resolution was moved by Kelly Belgrove and
seconded by Devon Ashby. The resolution was approved by
the members by 154 voting in favour. 15 members voted
against and 8 abstained.
13.6.

Children’s Foundation

13.3.1. The President proposed a motion on behalf of the
Board of Directors that an allocation of $50,000 be made to
the Children’s Foundation be approved.
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Limit of Liability

13.6.1. The President put the following resolution to the
meeting:
WHEREAS the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Act,
Chapter 81:03, Regulation 14, states:

13.2.1. The President proposed a motion on behalf of the
Board of Directors that an allocation of $250,000 to assist
schools, sporting endeavours and community groups be made
to the Common Good Fund be approved.

13.3.

Appointment of Auditors

13.5.1. The President proposed on behalf of the Board of
Directors the following resolution:

•

“14 (1) - Every Society shall, from time to time, fix
at a general meeting the Maximum Liability it may
incur in respect of loans or deposits, whether from
members or non-members.

•

(2) – The Maximum Liability fixed under
subregulation (1) shall be subject to the approval of
the Commissioner, who may at any time reduce it.

•

(3) No Society shall receive loans or deposits in
excess of the Maximum Liability approved or fixed
by the Commissioner.”

Common Good Fund

13.2.2. The $250,000 allocation to the Common Good
Fund was seconded by DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge and
approved by the members by 187 voting in favour. 27
members voted against and 9 abstained.

Member of the Future Allocation

AND WHEREAS the Maximum Liability Limit refers to the
maximum sum that a Society can borrow from a financial
institution or that limit that can be owed to depositors.
AND WHEREAS the Membership at the Annual General
Meeting held on March 17, 2011, resolved that the Limit of
Liability be set at TT$150 million dollars.
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AND WHEREAS the Board of Directors is now recommending
renewal of this Limit of Liability at the existing amount of
TT$150 million.
BE IT RESOLVED that the Limit of Liability of VENTURE
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited continues to be
set at TT$150 million dollars.
13.6.2. The resolution was moved by Coreen Isaac and
seconded by Kathy-Ann Millette- Roach. The resolution was
passed by 164 members voting in favour. 4 members voted
against and 14 abstained.
13.7.

Approval of Debt Write-off

The Acting CEO highlighted the following:
2013 to 2016 was a period of rapid growth for VENTURE.
However, write-off of bad debts was not undertaken at that
time. It is only from 2018 that bad debts began to be written
off with a view to regularizing the accounts by 2022. The root
cause of the accumulation of these bad loans were:
•

Weaknesses in loan assessment of risk.

•

Insufficient data collection at the onboarding and
loan application stages.

•

Too much flexibility on risk to cater for members’
needs.

•

Weaknesses in post loan
compliance approaches.

management

and

The combination of the types of loans extended and the
downturn in the economy resulted in the volume of bad loans
on the books.
All efforts are still made to recover even after a debt is written
off. The results of the efforts are as follows:
Reasons
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Questions were then invited.
13.7.1. Alicia Fields – Is it possible to get a loan within
your shares limit? The President advised that the question is
misplaced but he will get the Manager of the San Fernando
branch to advise the member.
13.7.2. Andrea Rochford – What was the delinquency ratio
from 2013 to 2016? The Acting CEO advised that she did
not have the information readily available but that it could be
close to 27%. This information would be checked.
13.7.3. Robert Daisley – Is there a limit to the amount of
money a member can borrow? What was the criteria used to
lend one member $21 million? The President advised that the
criteria used for a specific loan is confidential and cannot be
disclosed. However, he advised that the Loans Policy guides
loans. The Credit Committee has a limit on business loans,
which pass through the Business Loans Committee of the
Board for advice.
13.7.4. The President proposed on behalf of the Board of
Directors the following resolution:
WHEREAS VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society
Limited (VENTURE) makes every effort to recover bad debts
or delinquent loans in pursuance of the recoveries procedure
of the society.
AND WHEREAS VENTURE’s efforts to recover 315 accounts
valued at the sum of $71,487,261.61 have proven futile.
AND WHEREAS VENTURE has previously made loan loss
provisions which fully covers the amount of $71,487,261.61.
AND WHEREAS the Board continues to pursue the recovery
of bad debts or delinquent loans even after they have been
written off.
BE IT RESOLVED that 315 accounts in the sum $71,487,261.61
be written-off during the 2021 financial year.

Number of
Value of
Accounts Accounts ($M)

External Collectors

846

40

Disputes at Co-operative

556

60

In Litigation

11

44

13.7.5. Ancil Valley moved a motion for the resolution.
Alicia Fields seconded the motion. The resolution was
approved by the members by 113 voting in favour. 52
members voted against and 23 abstained.

Judgements

229

46

13.8.

1,642

190

Total

The following strategies have been implemented and are
ongoing:
•

Prudent balance sheet management in line with
International Accounting Standards.

•

Aggressive provisioning in line with the industry.

•

Continued pursuit of recovery through all the
avenues.

•

Continued strict risk management of new loans
being booked.

Amendment to Bye-law #49

13.8.1. The President advised members that for the sake of
continuity, the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee
retire by rotation which is why, by way of example, only three
members are voted onto the Board at an AGM. In the case
of the Supervisory Committee, however, all five members
are voted on at the AGMs. It is recommended that the same
process of retirement by rotation apply to the Supervisory
Committee from next year. In order to achieve this, the Byelaws have to be amended and then the Commissioner has to
consent. This amendment requires that 75% of those voting
must vote in favour of the resolution.
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13.8.2. A third Credential Report was taken and showed
that there were 272 members logged on.

Ayanna Miguel-Rennie

176

Wendell Yearwood

149

13.8.3. The President put the following resolution to the
meeting:

Yvonne Sarabjit

124

Vernaliza Dinno-Ramlakhan

116

Candice N A Thomas

105

Venesh Ramdath

61

Rondon Thomas

59

Trevor B Rogers

57

Richard B Lalchan

35

WHEREAS VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society
Limited (the Credit Union) was registered on March 3, 1997,
under the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 81:03 and at
the end of its fiscal year March 31, 1998, the total asset base
was $56,749,949;
AND WHEREAS the Credit Union at the end of December 31,
2020, its asset base was $1,522,380,998;
AND WHEREAS with this increase the Credit Union requires
more diligent supervision:
BE IT RESOLVED that Bye-law #49 be amended to supervise
the Credit Union in the changed circumstances as follows:
The Supervisory Committee shall:
a.

The Committee shall consist of five (5) members
to be elected by members at the Annual General
Meeting none of whom shall be eligible for service
on the Board, Credit Committee and any other
sub-committee.

b.

At the first Annual General Meeting after the
coming into force of this Bye-law, the three (3)
members who have been elected to the Committee
with the highest number of votes shall serve for a
period of two (2) years; while the remaining two
(2) members shall serve for a period of one (1)
year. Thereafter all members elected shall serve
for a period of two (2) years unless a member is
elected to serve the unexpired term of a member.

c.

A Chairman and a Secretary shall be chosen by
and from the Committee at its first meeting after
each Annual General Meeting.

13.8.4. Andrew Richards moved a motion for the
resolution. Bernadine Warrick seconded the motion. The
resolution was approved by the members by 251 voting in
favour. 10 members voted against and 7 abstained.
14.0 ELECTION RESULTS
The Returning Officer announced the election results as
follows:

14.2.

Credit Committee

Nominees

No. of votes

Wendell Mitchell

258

Dorinda Baxter

257

Avinash Persad

206

Avana-Marie Honore

177

Tiffany Pereira

114

14.3.

Board of Directors

Nominees

No. of votes

Tracey Elcock

260

Charles Percy

247

Esmé Raphael

203

Gabriel O’Brien

123

Rebecca Alicia Seepersad

102

Steve Chadee

46

The President and the Returning Officer congratulated the
successful nominees.
14.4.

Destruction of Ballots

A motion was moved by Tracey Elcock for the destruction
of the ballots. The motion was seconded by Wayne Nigel
Lewis. The motion was carried by 194 members voting in
favour. 6 members voted against and 6 abstained.
15.0 OTHER BUSINESS
The President opened up the floor to questions.

14.1.

Supervisory Committee

Nominees

No. of votes

Andre Edwards

271

Charlene Mungal

204

DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge

200

18

|

15.1.
Simeon Humphrey – What preparation has been
made against cyber threats and to ensure business continuity?
The Secretary who is also head of the ICT Committee advised
that a consultant was retained to advise on cyber security.
The recommendations made are being followed. ICT staff
and general staff are being trained. Documentation of some
critical procedures is being prepared. The ICT environment is

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

2021

ANNUAL
REPORT

being made more robust by upgrading security components
of the architecture and purchasing new equipment and
software.
A business continuity risk assessment was done and an
offsite backup facility is being set up. Tests will be done on an
annual basis to monitor the strength and effectiveness of the
firewalls.
15.2.
Patricia St. Louis Jones – Can members access
balances online? If a debt is written off, is the debtor still a
financial member? The Secretary advised that online balances
are already available but current debit card balances will be
available soon.
The Acting CEO advised that if a member has a delinquent
loan then all shares are applied to the loan.
15.3.
Sherma Gomez-Lewis – Is anything being done
to allow for ACH transfers from a personal bank account
to VENTURE? The Secretary advised that ACH is available
between the banks and VENTURE.
The Acting CEO advised that she will get someone to call the
member to walk her through the steps to set up ACH from her
account.
16.0 VOTE OF THANKS
The Vice President Mr. Keith London moved the vote of
thanks.
17.0 CLOSE OF MEETING
There being no further business the President closed the
meeting at 2:00 p.m.
Respectfully submitted

Roger Bertrand (Mr.)
Secretary of the Board
March 18, 2022
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BOARD REPORT
INTRODUCTION
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to be a major concern
and has presented unprecedented challenges resulting in an
overwhelming impact on public health, productivity, labour
markets, financial markets, trade, and the social fabric in almost
every country, regardless of development status. According
to the World Bank, the effects of the pandemic are reversing
hard-fought gains in relation to poverty reduction, overall
economic development, and shared prosperity. Productivity
in many countries rebounded in 2021 due to the reopening of
economies. However, Trinidad and Tobago has not reopened
as quickly as other countries.
Global economic activity regained momentum bolstering energy
prices to dramatic increases in the second half of 2021, and
these are anticipated to remain strong in 2022. Trinidad and
Tobago’s energy sector benefitted from the more favourable
international prices and, although domestic production was
adversely affected by natural gas supply issues, output levels
surpassed prior year, boosting confidence in the energy sector.
The recent price pressures can be interpreted as evidence that
current issues such as supply chain disruptions, shortages in
shipping containers, adverse weather conditions, and shortages
of labour and materials can be expected to persist and cause
increased inflationary pressure into 2022.
Against this backdrop, the aggressive vaccination programme by
governments across the globe, along with a plethora of vaccine
brands, marked a significant way forward to limit the spread of
the COVID-19 virus and reversing the economic decline. In the
interest of care for our Members and Employees, VENTURE
has supported, and been guided by, the several initiatives of
our government towards ending the pandemic.
As in other countries, these initiatives required implementation
of stringent COVID-19 related measures which adversely
impacted the domestic economies. For Trinidad and Tobago, the
IMF predicted a 1.0% contraction for 2021 followed by growth
of 5.4% in 2022. The introduction of new and life-threatening
variants resulted in the reinstating of additional lockdown
measures to curb the spread of these deadly variants. Trinidad
and Tobago imposed strict measures to limit the spread of the
virus, including that of a limited State of Emergency which
commenced on May 15, 2021 and ended on November 17, 2021.
Globally, lockdowns and measures such as these have grave
repercussions, resulting in steep declines in economic activity,
increased labour market slack, and spiralling shipping and raw
material costs driving the upsurge in domestic inflation levels.
With the gradual reopening of the economy in the third quarter
of 2021, business operations and productivity began to recover,
signalling optimism for 2022. Business credit saw an increase
by 1.3% year-on-year in October 2021 attributable to the
construction, finance, and insurance sectors, alongside a 4.6%
increase in mortgage lending. However, consumer lending
contracted by 2.3% despite a slight decrease in interest rates.
Borrowers have become even more cautious because of their
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uncertainty due to new and emerging variants of the COVID-19
virus, fearing another lockdown of the economy resulting in loss
of jobs and/or income. Preliminary statistics from the Ministry
of Labour showed that 837 persons were retrenched during
the first nine months of 2021. These were primarily in the
wholesale and retail trade, restaurants and hotels, petroleum
and gas including production, refining and service contractors,
manufacturing and transport, storage, and communication.
Our membership is represented in all these business sectors.
As we continue to grapple with the health, economic and social
impacts of the pandemic, the Board and Management sought to
implement precautionary measures to safeguard the well-being
of our members, staff, and the community particularly given
the implementation of the additional lockdown requirements
in May 2021. These measures included a temporary change
in the opening hours (Monday to Friday between the hours of
8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m.) and rotation/work from home protocols
and, of course, strict adherence to recommended COVID-19
protocols such as limiting the number of persons allowed into
branches, mandatory temperature checks, wearing of masks
and sanitization upon entry, and frequent sanitization of teller
stations, all of which continue to be in full effect.
Despite the challenging economic landscape experienced in
2021, our Credit Union has maintained a robust balance sheet,
a healthy capital structure and has reserved conservatively
for future uncertainty. During the period May to December
2021, the Board and Management re-introduced restructuring
or deferrals of payments for members who may have been
affected by the lockdown measures. This was essential to assist
members during these unprecedented circumstances. There
was a notable reduction in loan activity due to the additional
lockdown measures implemented by the government which
contributed to the lower-than-expected disbursements.
However, with the introduction of several new products, loan
activity rebounded following the lockdown period and we have
delivered a strong set of financials. In fact, we have surpassed
our budgeted net surplus for 2021, which is a commendable
achievement by our Board, Management, and Staff and is a
true testimony of our resilience during these times. These
results reflect the underlying strength of our strategic agenda
and our organization. Whilst we are pleased with these results,
we continue to face an external environment that is volatile
and difficult to envisage. Moving forward, we will continue
to execute our Strategic Plan to future-proof our business by
empowering our members, with our immediate priority being
growth and transformation even through the vagaries being
faced in this global pandemic.
VENTURE has evolved over the years, yet our philosophy remains
deep-rooted in strengthening our community, flourishing our
households and families, providing competitive rates on loans
and deposit accounts, minimal fees, easy access to accounts, and
personal service from people who truly care about your financial
well-being. Our last AGM Report articulated VENTURE’s new
Vision, Mission and Core Values, and identified the strategic
focus areas. Since then, and despite the many COVID-related
disruptions, the planning team was able to propose many
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initiatives with attendant timelines, resource requirements
and implementation risks to enable the strategic focus areas.
This was all summarized in a strategy map that depicts how
the key initiatives would lead to achieving the desired strategic
results. The culmination of this exercise led to a clear definition
of the expected outcomes of the strategy by the end of the
plan period viz:
•

Member empowerment – in fulfilment of VENTURE’s
fundamental purpose for existence.

•

Surplus growth – to better reward our members.

•

Cultural transformation – to ensure sustainable
performance of the Credit Union.

Detailed implementation plans are being finalized even as
some initiatives have already started. The new plan period is
2022-2024.
Prior to the pandemic, technology played a major role in all
businesses, especially in automating business operations for
greater efficiencies. However, the onset of the pandemic forced
societal changes and we have extended ourselves to suit these
changes. We continue to focus on strengthening our digital
operations to provide that signature service to you, which remains
a high priority to us. Members continue to express their interest
in conducting business with little to no contact with people.
Thus, members were encouraged to utilize our existing digital
capabilities for the submission of loan applications, requests
for waivers and queries via our website, emails and through the
drop-box. Loan interviews can now be accommodated via video

conferencing to restrict face-to-face contact. Updates to our
Online Banking platform were implemented to increase security
features to protect members and to make the application more
user-friendly to keep up with the new norms. Additionally, the
update allows the same feel no matter which platform used,
whether the desktop application or the mobile app. It makes it
easier and less complicated for you when switching between
the two. Members are encouraged to utilize our user-friendly
mobile app and explore the new features enabled on our online
banking platform.
As we move into 2022, we continue to execute our strategic
plan by focusing on understanding our membership and
improving how we can satisfy your needs. Based on 2021,
our annual Member Satisfaction Survey produced an 86.6%
satisfaction rating which exceeds the ASCI (American Customer
Satisfaction Index) Benchmark of 76% for Credit Unions in
2021. This achievement is a true testament of the aptitude and
expertise of our employees in delivering exceptional service
quality to you. We would like to extend our heartfelt gratitude
to all our members who would have accessed our product and
service offerings during these times; we remain dedicated
to providing you with a financial peace of mind. In this way,
continue to look out for our attractive and exciting promotions
launched throughout the year. We invite you to share your
recommendations and feedback via the in-branch suggestion
boxes, semi-annual surveys, website and on our social media
platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, and Twitter.
Tell a friend or family member about VENTURE’s competitive
interest rates and very attractive terms and conditions and
let’s all work together to build a brighter future for everyone.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE
The inaugural meeting for the 2021-2022 term was held on 20th May 2021. However, the following table shows the attendance
of all serving officers during the calendar year 2021 during which 12 regular meetings and 3 special meetings were held.
Name

Position

Term

Attended

Excused

Absent

Hayden Ferreira

President

Jan - Dec

15

-

-

Vice President

Jan - Dec

15

-

-

Secretary

Jan - Dec

15

-

-

Assistant Secretary

Jan - Dec

15

-

-

Tracey Elcock

Director

Jan - Dec

15

-

-

Clint Mohan

Director

Jan - Dec

14

1

-

Charles Percy

Director

Jan - Dec

14

1

-

Esmé Raphael

Director

Jan - Dec

12

3

-

Racquel Vincent

Director

Jan - Dec

11

-

-

Keith London
Roger Bertrand
Cole Patrick

TENURE OF DIRECTORS
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Outgoing – AGM 2022

Outgoing – AGM 2023

Outgoing – AGM 2024

Cole Patrick

Roger Bertrand

Tracey Elcock

Hayden Ferreira

Clint Mohan

Charles Percy

Racquel Vincent

Keith London

Esmé Raphael
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Total Assets

Total Shares

Total Loans

Total Revenue

Total Expenses

Net Surplus

Non Performing Loans

Provisioning

Operating Expenses/Revenue

Non-Performing
Loans

Non-Performing
Exposure
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LOAN PORTFOLIO
VENTURE’s loan portfolio comprises different types of loans tailored to meet the needs of our membership. As at 31st December
2021, Ordinary loans accounted for 25% of the overall portfolio followed by Real Estate and Small Business loans contributing
24% and 17% of the overall portfolio respectively.

Loan Portfolio Composition by Loan Type

We continue to offer tailor-made financing options designed to meet your requirements with flexible terms and conditions. This
presents a promising opportunity to build our membership base and increase revenue.
DELINQUENCY
As at 31st December 2021, VENTURE had 5,684 loans of which 769 or 14% of all loans were non-performing (greater than 360
days and bad debt). The number of non-performing loans reduced by 202 or 21% compared to the previous year, while, the value
of non-performing loans declined by roughly $53M or 23%. The Credit Union’s exposure to non-performing loans ($) declined
from 13% in 2020 to 6% of the portfolio in 2021 while the secured non-performing portfolio ($) increased from 18% in 2020 to
22% in 2021. This is a favourable outcome for the Credit Union as we strive to safeguard our lending practices.
In context of our experience with them in previous years, Business loans are now pursued by VENTURE with a significantly greater
degree of rigour in analysis and in security.

Delinquency
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Composition of Delinquency by Value per Loan Type

Percentage of Delinquency by Number per Loan Type
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During the period 2018 to 2021, VENTURE has written-off
$138M from the loan portfolio which has significantly decreased
our overall delinquency. The delinquency rate on all loans
disbursed post-2017 stood at a satisfactory level of 5.83% as at
the end of 2021. We will continue this strategy into 2022 until
all the Legacy loans (pre-2017) that meet VENTURE’s bad debt
write-off policy are cleared from our books. Other strategies to
deal with delinquency include referring delinquent accounts to
external collectors, filing disputes at the Co-operative Division,
develop and implement customized payment programs/plans
to work with members who are under financial stress to
increase debt recovery and improve member service, create a
whereabouts database for members and vehicles, and increase
the repossession drives for both vehicles and properties.
At the forefront, Credit Administration continues to be actively
involved in the adjudication process by analysing the risk(s) of
our lending practices. We have streamlined the adjudication
process so that credit approvals are granted in a timely manner
and staff can discharge their functions efficiently in accordance
with the Credit Union’s loan policies and procedures. There has
been on-going training to staff/personnel at the origination
stage so that the restrictions surrounding credit transactions
can be better understood. We have also improved processes at
the pre-disbursement and post-disbursement stages taking into
consideration compliance to all forms and lending conditions,
the proper execution and management of loan collateral

instruments and the centralization of the loan verification
process to ensure quality control.
Bad Debt Recovered

On the back end, we continue to place emphasis on our
collection efforts which has resulted in an increase by 351%
in bad debts recovered from 2020 to 2021. The increase was
largely attributable to the implementation of the strategies
described above, and, in particular, our determined collections
efforts. We will continue to identify adverse trends and analyse
current situations so that the appropriate corrective action will
be implemented to reduce VENTURE’s loss exposure.

BRANCH PERFORMANCE
Couva continues to display resilience in such unprecedented times accounting for 37% of total business for VENTURE, down
from 40% in 2020. The San Fernando branch contributed 32% of total business, a decline from the previous year by 36%. Arouca
closed the year in a much better position accounting for 32% of total loans disbursed in 2021, an increase from 24% in 2020 with
a year-on-year growth rate of 19%.
Congratulations to the Arouca branch on an outstanding performance. Your efforts and hard work have earned you this result.
Well done!

Branch Performance

Percentage of Total Loans Disbursed
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Growth in Membership 2017-2021

TOTAL MEMBERSHIP
Membership grew by 1,441 or 3% year-on-year taking Total Membership up to 47,695. For a second consecutive year, VENTURE
temporarily suspended the opening of New Membership Accounts for the period May 10th, 2021 to September 14th, 2021 due
to the limited State of Emergency and additional lockdown measures that were implemented to curb the spread of the COVID-19
virus. However, members were still able to open accounts for the purpose of accessing loans. When restrictions were lifted in
September 2021, New Membership Applications recommenced by Appointments Only.
Deceased Members in 2021
Alana Romany

Eileen Joseph

Kishore Sarjoo

Rajesh Roopnarine

Allen Bournes

Elcina Lovell

Kyel King

Rambhajan Siew

Allison Deonarine-Cuffy

Elizabeth Bain

Lalchand Rambharose

Richard Linton

Ann-Marie Bandford

Erma Greene

Lawrence Pierre

Robert Martin

Ansil Duncan

Eshana Deosingh

Letitia Chee You

Ronald Sooklalsingh

Ansil Dyer

Esther Samuel-Ramdial

Luana De Leon

Runa Sinanan-Cadogan

Augustina Nicholas

Faye Raghunandan

Maureen Trimm

Ryan Jagroo

Azim Maingot

Garfield Perry

Michael Charles

Shaffina Lapaix

Barbara Hamil

George Seecharan

Michael Ibrahim

Shane Mohammed

Beverley Raymond

Gillian Bereaux-Burke

Michael Pascall

Sheri Narine

Calvin Perrotte

Hayden Scott

Michael Ramdass

Shevon Phillip

Carlton Adams

Hubraj Ragoobar

Mishalla Wesley

Shivonne Bartholomew

Carlton Watson

Ian Guerra

Nandlal Deorajsingh

Taran Ramnarace

Christopher Pedro

Jagrattee Ramjattan

Navindra Deonarine

Una Paul-Collymore

Clyde Leon

Jagroo Nancoo

Odette Nicome

Venus Roland

Courtney Campbell

Jerry Lopez

Patricia Coipel

Victor Williams

Darnell Samuel

Joe Jagnarine

Patrick Dookhan

Walcott Manmohan

Darryl Jackson

Judith Medica

Patrick Ramsingh

Wendy Ramdeen

Dave Boodan

Kelvin Kong

Pearl Guevara

Willis Sandy

Deonarine Seelochan

Kent Neptune

Phillip Edwards

Winston Guiseppi

Derrick Saunders

Kenwyn Jones

Premchan Mathura

Winston Jamadar

Devindra Narinesingh

Kerry Samuel

Premwatee Sahadeo-Sookraj
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BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

Facilities

Business Loans Committee Report

Arouca

Committee members:

1.

Board Members: Cole Patrick (Chair), Wendell Mitchell,
Gabriel O’Brien

Centralized command center - annual AGM and other
virtual events on account of the COVID-19 pandemic

2.

Extensive cleaning effort to the location’s exterior

Staff: Roxanne Solomon

3.

Generator service/upgrade

The year 2021 was indeed very challenging for many of our
members particularly those operating in the business community.
The past year saw many micro, small and medium sized businesses
closing their doors and, in some instances, never to open again.
The pandemic certainly had its impact on most businesses and
while some sectors may have experienced growth, most have
had contractions.

Couva Building I
Extensive cleaning effort to the location

2.

Septic Tank Cleaning

3.

Alarm system upgrade

Couva Building II

Over the last fiscal period VENTURE Credit union has been able
to support its self-employed and newly unemployed members
by issuing around 24 micro and small business loans with all
ranging from around $10,000 to $200,000.00 in value. There
were three requests for medium sized business loans with all
being under $3,000,000.00. Of these one was cancelled, one
was declined and one that was fully collateralized and profitable
with a favourable outlook was recommended for approval. The
requests for business loans were from various sectors including,
food and beverage, security services, medical supplies, personal
care and agriculture.

1.

Extensive cleaning effort to the location’s exterior
inclusive of repainting

2.

Completion of an electrical equipment upgrade

3.

Elevator upgrade completed

4.

Availability of more member parking

5.

Septic tank cleaning

6.

Review and minor repair(s) to the fire protection system

San Fernando

The Business Loans Committee continues to provide oversight
and technical support in fundamental analysis, structuring
and pricing prior to submitting to the Credit Committee for
consideration.
On behalf of the members of the committee we wish to thank
the membership for the opportunity to serve and we remain
committed to working with all stakeholders to strive towards
a sustainable and successful future.

1.

1.

Extensive cleaning effort to the location’s exterior
inclusive of repainting

2.

Air condition repair

3.

Review and minor repair(s) to the fire protection system

4.

Installation of branded tent for member accommodation

Ongoing Works

Building and HSSE Committee Report

•

The award of contracts (new and
renewals) in the areas of building
maintenance, sanitization, deep
cleaning, air condition, lift systems (as
applicable), fire protection, generator
(as applicable) and pest control to
be more aligned with VENTURE’s
COVID-19 protocols platform for
ALL Locations

•

Review of all COVID-19 protocols
for improvement.

•

Installation of shutters

•

Installation of branded tent/awning
for member accommodation

•

Alternative dumpster solution

Committee members:
Board Members: Clint Mohan (Chair), Esmé Raphael, Keith
London
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Nadine Radday

HSSE
All
Locations

The major successes achieved across all locations were as
follows:

28

•

An ongoing Emergency Management Team (EMT)
Platform

•

Implementation of advanced COVID-19 protocols
and Action Plan

•

Frequent and ongoing updates and reminders to all staff

•

Enhanced sanitization efforts at all locations

•

Engagement of an innovative sanitization contractor
for best practiced COVID-19 protocols

|
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Arouca

2021
Couva
Building I

Couva
Building II

San
Fernando

•

Central air-condition system assessment
for repair(s)

•

Repair of minor leaks at the side of
the building

•

Assess sewer capability

•

Roof repairs to address leaks

•

Upgrade to the surveillance system

•

Assess sewer capability

•

Extensive air condition servicing

•

Tile repairs First Floor

•

Door access system review

•

Surveillance system review

ANNUAL
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Delinquency Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Charles Percy (Chair), Keith London
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Valene Jack, Melba Mollineau,
Hardaye Harrypersad, Sherlon Jean
Introduction
The Delinquency Committee, a special advisory committee of the
Board, works jointly with Management to ensure the effective
management of all loans granted to members. Although the
COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect the global economy,
many countries made aggressive steps to return to normal in 2021,
with the IMF reporting that the world economy had rebounded
to US $95 trillion, surpassing the 2019 high of US $87 trillion.

CSR Committee Report
Board Members: Racquel Vincent (Chair), Esmé Raphael,
Gabriel O’Brien
Staff: Janet Khan, Salina Ali

Our local economy was however slow to reopen, with schools still
closed, entertainment and sporting activities restricted and many
businesses in the services sector constrained. Nevertheless, in
the last half of the year oil and gas prices surged, which initiated
a trickle-down effect across the entire economy. Local credit
institutions continued to struggle in this environment and
VENTURE had to become more enterprising, yet extremely
vigilant in order to survive.
Initiatives Championed (Successes and Challenges)

The ongoing pandemic has prompted VENTURE to adjust to
the changing environment and acknowledge more than ever,
our responsibility to the community. As such, the Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee continued to action the
Society’s CSR mandate, using the Common Good Fund.
During the period of review (January 2021 – December 2021),
a total of 75 requests for assistance received by the Committee
were reviewed in accordance with the CSR Policy. Of the requests
actioned, 59% were approved, 36% were declined and 5% were
referred or placed on hold. Disbursement for the period was
sixty-nine thousand, five hundred and fifty dollars ($69,550.00).
It is important to note that most of the declined requests were
received too late for the Committee to provide assistance.
The “Christmas Box” initiative was a commendable project
spearheaded by a member of staff, Ms. Jade Sandiford. With
the vision of “people helping people,” this initiative was able
to distribute hampers to twenty-eight (28) families and we
applaud her efforts.
Those who benefitted from the Fund have been continuously
expressing their gratitude for the assistance rendered. This
was only made possible due to the efforts of the Board, staff
and volunteers who worked together to execute the mandate
of the Committee.
As we move forward, the Committee remains committed to
doing its part, on behalf of VENTURE, to contribute to the
betterment of the community.

•

Increased efforts on Early Arrears management

•

These actions were very instrumental in keeping
delinquency stabilized. However, this area desires
more technology and automation to be successful

•

Refined and improved the IFRS-9 Expected Credit
Loss (ECL) Provisioning model

•

This continues to be a very collaborative effort with
the Auditors. They outline what a “best in class” system
should provide and challenge us to continuously improve.
This is another area which can benefit from automation

•

Greater emphasis on Troubled Debt restructuring
and refinancing

•

We focused a lot more closely in this area and achieved
some notable successes in 2021. However, a lot more
flexibility and ingenuity are required in this area in
order to gain greater traction

•

Technical support is required here

•

Loan waivers to members challenged by the circumstances
of COVID-19

•

This initiative continues to be in demand and finds
favor with our members

•

Increased the collections drive on delinquent members

•

The use of External Collectors continues to yield
significant results in reactivating delinquent accounts

•

Increased collaboration and engagement with the
Commissioner’s Office
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•

We have been working more closely with the Commissioner’s
Office to expedite matters, however they too have been
challenged by the pandemic. This however is an area
for significant improvement and VENTURE needs to
explore areas of mutual collaboration

•

Increased the advertisement and action for “Sale by
Mortgagee”

•

This has been yielding recent benefits as members
seek bargains in the reopening of the economy

We made some strides in 2021 to improve our documentation
and embed our new credit policies across the business. The
pandemic allowed us to share and learn from other institutions
and we now feel much better about the consistency in our
practice of delinquency management. The completion of this
exercise continues into 2022.

Table 1: Education Committee Initiatives 2021
Initiative: Financial and Retirement Planning Webinar
Purpose
To educate Members on financial planning so that they can
take control of personal finances to achieve short, medium
and long-term goals.
Participants were introduced to the key principles of future
cash flow, personal financial plans and passive income,
exploration of money, lifestyle choices and relationships.
Date: Wednesday 25th Jan 2021
Number of Participants: 100
Initiative: Understanding Financial Statements Webinar
Purpose

Outlook/ Future Initiatives
VENTURE was able to successfully complete its Strategic Plan
2022-2024 which pointed to “quality loan growth” as our key
area of focus. In this regard, we must ensure that the “quality”
of the new loans on the books is preserved. This will require
the delinquency function to be very diligent on early arrears
management, as well as to work closely with our members to
support them staying compliant with the loan agreement, and
in extenuating circumstances, to offer workable restructuring
and rescheduling options.
Value to the member comes from the ease of doing business,
the efficiency of service across all areas of the business, as well
as the flexibility and creativity of our offerings. This Committee
intends to play an active role in ensuring we achieve the successes
we envisioned in our Strategic Plan.
VENTURE has a unique challenge, but also a wonderful opportunity
to become the leader among credit granting institutions in T&T:
“if only we dare to VENTURE.”

To assist Members with developing skills to participate actively
in the financial aspects of our core business at our Annual
General Meeting (AGM).
Date: Thursday 15th Apr 2021
Number of Participants: 66
Initiative: Coping during the COVID-19 PandemicA Three (3) Part Series
Series 1 •Managing Your Mental and Physical Health
during the COVID-19 Pandemic
Purpose
To provide Members with valuable information on better
coping or managing stress levels during the pandemic.
Date: Tuesday 22nd June 2021
Number of Participants: 90
Series 2•Treating COVID-19 at Home
Purpose
This session focused on educating Members who were in
home quarantine or isolation about caring for themselves
and others.

Education Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Tracey Elcock (Chair), Gabriel O’Brien

Date: Thursday 24th June 2021

Staff: Nicollette Bruno

Number of Participants: 72

Members: Allyson Skinner-Walker, Charlene Mungal, Geraldine
Lewis, Sherese Chee Mook

Series 3•Managing working from home, your child/children’s
virtual schooling and the household during the COVID-19
pandemic

The Education Committee met monthly to plan and execute its
calendar of initiatives for the period January-December 2021.
Like 2020, all initiatives were executed virtually, in response
to the onslaught of the COVID-19 pandemic. These initiatives
included four (4) Webinars and our annual Youth Technology
Workshop in chronological order as follows:

Purpose
The main purpose of this webinar was to provide Members
with valuable information on balancing or better managing
working from home, child/children’s virtual schooling and the
household during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Date: Tuesday 29th June 2021
Number of Participants: 58
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•

Reviewed all policies awaiting Board approval which
would be assessed on a priority basis. The more critical
ones are the Bad Debt Write-off and Compliance policies

•

The publication of a revised Bye-law Manual would be
uploaded on VENTURE’s Website in 2022

This programme focused on Graphic Design and its main
purpose was to provide our Youth Members and Children of
Members between the ages of 8-12 with graphic design skills.
Date: August 11th - 17th, 2021

Human Resource Committee Report

Number of Participants: 90

Committee members:
Board Members: Hayden Ferreira (Chair), Cole Patrick

Initiative: : Cyber Security Webinar

Staff: Ramesh Lutchman (CEO to Feb), Roxanne Solomon (Ag.
CEO, Mar - Sept; CEO, Oct - Dec)

Purpose
To provide Members with valuable information on effectively
managing lives digitally, cyber security threats and protection
or prevention from the negative impacts of same.

The Human Resource (HR) Committee assists the Board in
discharging its duty to oversee the establishment of appropriate
human resources, policies and strategies that provide the Society
with the capability to achieve its business objectives.

Date: Tuesday October 19th 2021
Number of Participants: 90
Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Committee also
developed an educational strategy for Facebook®, with more
educational content consistently created and posted on the
Facebook Page including the digital publication of this year’s
adVENTURE newsletter. Some submissions included information
on products and services, Energy Conservation, Protecting the
Environment, Money Management and Managing Debt.
VENTURE Credit Union’s Education Committee continues to
pride itself in providing Members with topical, innovative and
useful opportunities to develop themselves holistically.

Governance Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Esmé Raphael (Chair), Hayden Ferreira
Staff: Roxanne Solomon
The Terms of Reference as set out in Bye-law 37(m) formed
the basis for discussions at meetings. All meetings were held
virtually in adherence to the COVID-19 protocols outlined by
the Government.
Areas covered during the reporting period were:
•

Development of an “On-boarding” information booklet
for new Board and Committee members

•

Followed up with the Commissioner of Co-operatives
on the status of Bye-law #14 – Maximum Liability
and Bye-law #49 – Amendment to the Supervisory
Committee

•

Examined the Non-disclosure and the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics policies to ensure that they were
relevant to VENTURE’s operation

•

Revised the Corporate Credit Card Policy to include
a more robust reporting section

As with so many other business entities, the period was
characterized by the organization’s learning and evolving ways
to adjust to the requirements necessary in a pandemic. As such,
•

We learned to complete sanitization in two hours to
minimize inconvenience to Members

•

We relocated personnel and used “work from home”
measures to lower exposure risk

•

We engaged in cross-training to better cater to
intermittent staff absences

•

We organized vaccinations for employees to enhance
their protection

•

We organized special initiatives to keep morale high

During the entire period, we managed to “keep our doors open,”
never losing more than a couple hours on those occasions when
it was more important to protect the safety of staff and members
in the context of a suspected exposure to COVID-19. We are
most proud of the extent to which members of staff voluntarily
reached out and assisted their peers to ensure our members
were properly supported.
The second key feature of the period was the Committee’s
significant effort in the recruitment of a Chief Executive
Officer, General Manager – Sales and Service and Human
Resource Manager. These key managerial positions required
the involvement of both the Committee, other Board Members
and independent HR Consultants in the recruitment process to
identify and select suitable persons. As a consequence of the
selection of Ms. Roxanne Solomon to fill the CEO position, we
are now in the process of recruiting a General Manager – Risk,
inclusive of Credit Administration.
Discussions also began with the Bank, Insurance and General
Workers Union towards a collective labour agreement for
employees. This exercise had been in abeyance for several
years. It is hoped that it can be brought to a mutually acceptable
conclusion early in the new term.

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

|

31

VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Finally, we note the valuable contribution made by several
members of staff (managerial and non-managerial) in the
preparation of a new Strategic Plan, for which implementation
has just begun.

ICT Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Roger Bertrand (Chair), Charles Percy
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Gary Richards
Members: Dwayne Pierre, Hayden Scott
The primary focus of the ICT Sub-committee has been to oversee
the upgrade of VENTURE’s ICT Infrastructure (Networks, Servers,
System Software) and key Application Software.
The infrastructure upgrade had been fraught with support
problems from both our first and second tier consultants. This
led to significant rework and project setbacks. Fortunately,
that phase of the project is now substantially completed. The
current version of our core software was successfully installed
and tested and is now in operation.
The Sub-committee is also reviewing the structure of the ICT
Department with a view to allowing them to be more responsive
to VENTURE’s needs and to reduce the sole dependency on
specific staff members especially with regard to the many
opportunities for the application of ICT identified in the 2022
- 2024 Strategic Plan.
In addition, VENTURE is a participant in an International
Development Bank (IDB) project that was facilitated by the
Central Finance Facility (CFF). One of the potential benefits
of that participation is the receipt of advice on an approach to
the further digitalization of the Credit Union to better serve
our members.

in COVID-19 cases. Domestically, the efforts of the Central
Bank to increase liquidity levels and lower interest rates were
maintained throughout 2021. The expected gains from these
measures were however countered by the six-month State
of Emergency and curfew implementations, which lead to
reduced economic activity and increased uncertainty among
careful investors.
In an economy with high levels of excess liquidity, low interest
rates, reduced business confidence and subsequent reduced
business expenditure, 2021 resulted in even fewer investment
opportunities within the market. Despite this, the Investment
Committee along with the Office continues to implement
innovative strategies to efficiently manage the portfolio, enhancing
VENTURE’s ability to provide members with competitive
returns. During the year, the Investment Committee reviewed
proposals for new investments, reviewed the performance of
the portfolio and considered strategies to better monitor and
improve its quality, status, allocations and alignment in an effort
to mitigate risk whilst maximizing returns.
$150M of new investments were undertaken, while $131M
matured during the year, some of which were renewed given
their above-market yields and sound quality. 100% of the value
of total investments undertaken was in fixed income securities.
The allowance for impairment on the portfolio increased as
credit ratings slipped and the economic conditions deteriorated;
however, it remained below 2% of the value of the portfolio in
2021. This is again a result of the quality of new and existing
investments in the portfolio.
Investment income for the year 2021 surpassed budget by 42%;
a notable performance showing our ability as an institution
to thrive despite the continued challenges facing the global,
regional and domestic investment markets.
The Chairman, members of the Investment Committee and
the Office continue to work toward improving VENTURE’s
Investment Portfolio through its prudent management.

The commitment, support and service of the members of the
ICT Sub-committee is acknowledged and fully appreciated.
MEMBER RELATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
Investment Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Clint Mohan (Chair), Keith London, Raquel
Vincent
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Melba Mollineau, Denzyl Wilkes
2021 exhibited an interesting situation with slower than anticipated
global economic recovery compounding the precarious investment
market yet showcasing key sporadic opportunities for growth,
as we continued to navigate the COVID-19 pandemic. In the
Caribbean and Latin America, a 4.6% economic growth was
estimated; and though recovery is underway, the pandemic still
casts shadows on much of the region as the robust performance
in the first quarter of 2021 lost momentum in some countries
during the second and third quarters, reflecting the rebound
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Committee members:
Board Members: Roger Bertrand (Chair), Tracey Elcock
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Donna Peters-Hayde, Nicollette Bruno
The major challenge to providing quality service over the reporting
period has been to maintain effective operations despite the
negative impacts of COVID-19 on staffing. Management has
met these challenges through staff rotations, physical staff
distribution, occasional work from home, frequent and timely
sanitization.
Despite these challenges, our Member Satisfaction Survey
yielded a score was 86.6% which is well above the Finance
industry standard average.
Nonetheless, one significant and persistent challenge has been
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with the provision of our debit card service. This stems from
an extended period of poor service from JMMB, our debit card
service provider, which is still in the process of converting to
new software. The ICT Department continues to liaise with
them to resolve these issues as soon as possible.
Committee members were exposed to a seminar on Customer
Experience which provided insight into methods for achieving
Member Service Excellence. This has spawned a renewed
urgency for the improvement of our key business process – The
Loan Management System and for improving our knowledge of
our Membership. Both initiatives are reflected in our strategic
plan, and operational plans for addressing them are in progress.
Tenders Committee Report
Committee members:
Board Members: Keith London (Chair), Esmé Raphael
Staff: Roxanne Solomon, Melba Mollineau
For the reporting period, the Tender Committee met and executed
its mandate in accordance with VENTURE Credit Union’s
approved Procurement Policy and Procedures manual. Through
its fair and transparent processes, the Committee deliberated
on matters presented for its consideration, including but not
limited to the approval of a tender valued at $653,685.48 for
Maintenance and Janitorial Services.
In its commitment to continually improve on the efficacy of
VENTURE’s business processes, the Committee is currently
reviewing pertinent areas of the Procurement Policy and
Procedures for strengthening of compliance. These areas are
being finalized for rollout in 2022.
Thanks to all the members of the Tenders Committee for their
commitment, support and service.
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NATIONAL BODIES
Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of Trinidad
and Tobago Limited (CFF)
The Central Finance Facility (CFF) is the financial and developmental
institution for Credit Unions and Co-operatives. It was founded
on the premise of cooperation among Cooperatives to serve the
credit union sector by providing opportunities for investments
through the pooling of resources of credit unions and nonfinancial cooperatives. One of the goals of the CFF continues
to be that the movement remains resilient and sustainable,
during and post these unprecedented times. The CFF continued
on a positive trajectory of growth in 2021. The COVID-19
pandemic accelerated the need for everything to go digital. The
CFF responded to the needs of Credit Unions by providing the
necessary support, training and research to assist its member
credit unions in transcending and adapting to the technology
available. The CFF has secured support from the International
Development Bank for developing strategies to digitalize four
credit unions, of which VENTURE is included.
Thought Leadership Sessions and Training Sessions focused
Credit Union leaders and managers on what must be done
to retain and expand market share. VENTURE continues to
participate in these sessions. Workshops included:
a.

Digital Marketing Strategy Design – aimed at equipping
credit unions with digital marketing skills to excel

b.

Creating a Winning FinTech strategy in the Local
Environment – to enhance service to credit union
members and increase credit union market share

c.

The Post Vaccine Economy and the Way Forward for
Credit Unions. Expert Economists joined leaders of
the Credit Union movement in strategizing

d.

Virtual Post Budget Breakfast Meeting to provide
credit union leaders with expert insights into the
National Budget and how credit unions can position
themselves to better serve members

Executive Management:
Roxanne Solomon - Chief Executive Officer, Donna Peters-Hayde - General Manager, Sales & Service
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Cooperative Social Responsibility: Like similar initiatives
undertaken for Dominica in 2017 and Bahamas in 2019, in the
aftermath of the Hurricanes, CFF coordinated efforts of local
credit unions to provide much needed resources to the Credit
Union fraternity in St Vincent and the Grenadines. Relief items
were supplied in two tranches and included water, masks, canned
food, cleaning material, hardware materials and non-perishables.
These activities were done in collaboration with the St Vincent
Credit Union League.
Now, more than ever, Credit Unions need inter-institutional
co-ordination to allow synergy and joint efforts to efficiently
promote digital financial inclusion and overcome some of
the challenges triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic. Some
challenges faced by the CFF and the Credit Union Movement
are: (i) Breaking the barrier of entry of credit unions to the
national payment system (ii) Research and development funding
so that Credit Unions can remain competitive (iii) Retooling
the CFF-feasibility of brokerage dealer/licence, so that Credit
Unions can earn more on their investments.
VENTURE Credit Union continues to support the CFF by its
participation. Financial inclusion and competitiveness require a
sustainable, strengthened Credit Union movement. To realize its
Mission – Facilitating Financing, Innovation, Market Leverage and
Thought Leadership through Co-operation Among Co-operatives,
the CFF needs the meaningful support from its members.
VENTURE Credit Union was effectively represented on the
CFF Board by Charlene Parris-Beharry.
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO CREDIT UNION DEPOSIT INSURANCE
FUND (TTCUDIF)
VENTURE continued its relationship with TTCDIFF over the
reporting period. The planned annual Leadership Conference
did not materialize because of the COVID-19 pandemic. The
organization held its 21st Annual General Meeting virtually on
November 27, 2021. VENTURE’s President, Mr Hayden Ferreira
attended the meeting. Director Esmé Raphael was nominated
by VENTURE as a member of the Audit Committee and was
elected unopposed.

of young persons and remains dedicated to the development
of Credit Unions in Trinidad and Tobago.
VENTURE Credit Union has been donating to the UWI
Undergraduate Scholarship & Bursaries programme for the past
twenty-three (23) years and remains committed to providing
students with the opportunity to pursue tertiary level education.
PRODUCTS
CUNA Insurance
VENTURE’s association with CUNA Caribbean as a service
provider for the insurance on share and loan protection on the
death of a member continues to be a success and a benefit to
the member’s beneficiary.
The Family Indemnity Plan (FIP) is another product provided
by CUNA. This plan is used for funeral expenses and covers up
to six (6) family members. The promotion of this plan to our
members is ongoing, with two thousand, three hundred and
fifteen (2,315) currently insured.
Group Health Plan
VENTURE, in its thrust to assist members who are not
privileged to have access to a company Health Plan for taking
care of medical expenses, continued to partner with Sagicor
to provide this product. The Health Plan remains a rewarding
and successful product and more members are encouraged to
access it to receive the benefits. At present, two hundred and
thirty-seven (237) members participate in the plan.
CONCLUSION
Uncertainty continues to loom across economies and the world
at large as the coronavirus disease continues to be difficult to
predict given the introduction of new and emerging variants
and the rapid spread across the world. The year 2021 has been
a tough year for everyone but we are here supporting you, our
valued members, during these difficult times. We continue to
remain optimistic that 2022 would return to the path of growth
and development in the short to the medium term as we strive
for sustainability of our business, directly linked to the wellbeing and financial health of our members.

ESMÉ RAPHAEL BURSARY
On Wednesday, 19th May 2021, the Campus Committee for
Undergraduate Awards Scholarships & Bursaries held its Awards
Ceremony virtually.
At this event, the Esmé Raphael Bursary for the UWI academic
year 2020/2021 was awarded to Ms. Jeanessa Romero for her
impressive achievement in Management Studies. The award
of this bursary is assessed strictly on merit and the economic
circumstances of the awardee. In addition, the awardees are
also introduced to the role and function of Credit Unions in
the financial industry.
The Bursary is named after Ms. Esmé Raphael, a stalwart of
the Credit Union Industry who has given over sixty (60) years
of service, twenty-four (24) of which has been contributed to
VENTURE. Ms. Raphael continues to show interest in the growth
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On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my deepest
gratitude to all our valued members for their unwavering support
and trust. Special thanks to the CEO for her good leadership
and vision as well as Management and Staff who continue to
display their commitment and dedication to VENTURE. Your
efforts are a true representation of the VENTURE culture and
the family we represent.
We look forward to a productive year ahead.
Keep safe!

Hayden Ferreira
President
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L-R: Charlene Mungal, Wendell Yearwood, Andre Edwards, Ayanna Miguel-Rennie, DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
REPORT
January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021
The VENTURE Credit Union Supervisory Committee (VSC) is
pleased to present its report for the period 1st January – 31st
December 2021. As prescribed in the Bye-laws and relevant
regulations, the primary purpose of VSC is to be the “watchdog”
of the Credit Union to protect and safeguard the interest of the
general membership. In fulfilling its purpose, the VSC is required
to monitor and examine the activities of VENTURE to ensure that
they are carried out in compliance with the approved Bye-laws,
policies and procedures and the Co-operative Societies Act.

The Committee discharged its responsibilities working closely
with the Manager, Internal Audit to assist with our review. The
work of the Committee was impacted by the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic, with rising community spread from the
second quarter onwards, and the inability as a result to meet
with relevant staff members. Consequently, the VSC focused
its efforts on areas where the probability of risk materializing
was elevated due to the pandemic.
Governance
At the first regular meeting of the VSC held on 19th May 2021,
and in accordance with Bye-law #40, Mr. Andre Edwards and
Wendell Yearwood were elected Chairman and Secretary
respectively.

2021 Supervisory Committee Composition and Meeting Attendance
There was a total of twelve (12) meetings held in 2021. Members’ attendance is tabulated below:
Name

Position

Term

Attended

Excused

Absent

Andre Edwards

Chairman

Jan – Dec

12

0

0

Nicole Pilgrim

Secretary

Jan – Apr

4

0

0

Charlene Paris-Beharry

Member

Jan – Apr

4

0

0

DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge

Member

Jan – Dec

12

0

0

Charlene Mungal

Member

Jan – Dec

12

0

0

1st Alternate

Jan – Apr

0

0

0

Secretary

May – Dec

8

0

0

Member

May – Dec

7

1

0

Wendell Yearwood

Ayanna Miguel-Rennie
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Activities of the Supervisory Committee during 2021
During its tenure the Supervisory Committee undertook the
following activities in accordance with the Bye-laws of VENTURE
Credit Union:
i. Elected its Chairman and Secretary
ii.

Prepared its Audit Plan for 2021

iii. Conducted the election of the Senior Officers (Executive
of the Board)
iv. Examined minutes of the Board Meetings
v.

Reviewed and attested to the monthly financial
statements

vi. Reviewed the 2021 Audit Plan and the work done by
the Internal Auditor
vii. Examined Compliance role and function
viii. Reviewed the 2020 Management Letter from the
External Auditors
ix. Examined VCU’s HR Practices
x.

Monitored Loans; Loan Delinquency and Debt Recovery
Strategies

xi. VCU IT Capability Assessment
xii. Health and Safety Issues
xiii. Objectively investigating formal complaints
Action Plan 2021
Building on past practices, an action plan was developed to focus
our attention on areas of interest with accountabilities assigned
to individual members on the Committee. Presented below are
significant areas of concerns identified and the responses from
management to same.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ACTION PLAN
Implementation of Internal Audit Recommendations
In reviewing the status of outstanding Internal Audit recommendations
with the Internal Audit Manager, the Supervisory Committee
was concerned with the tardy implementation by management.
This situation infers that VENTURE is not improving its control
environment as quickly as it should and leaves the organisation
vulnerable to avoidable risks. Appropriate action should be
taken as a matter of priority to improve this situation.
Management’s Comments
The tardiness arose out of urgent competing activities arising
out of COVID-19 challenges. We are presently addressing
same for full close off by Q3 2022.
AML/CFT Compliance Programme
The Supervisory Committee conducted a review of VENTURE’s
Compliance function. The effort to revise the policy and procedures
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governing VCU’s Compliance Programme was noted with
implementation scheduled for completion in February 2022.
Annual Anti-Money Laundering/ Combatting the Financing of
Terrorism (AML/CFT) training was completed for the Board
and Statutory Committees in 2021 whilst training for staff
was completed in January 2022 due to logistical constraints
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.
Management’s Comments:
The revised Compliance Programme was completed in February
2022 as planned. Training has been completed as well.
Loss of Physical Records Risk Exposure
A fire incident at VENTURE’s offsite physical storage service
provider resulting in loss of physical records could potentially
expose the organization to legal and business risks. Appropriate
action is required to manage and minimize the impact of these
risks going forward.
Management’s Comments
A complete review of our archiving is being undertaken. Some
risks are already mitigated by our digital storage.
Delinquency Management
The review of the operations of the Collections Unit identified
the need to revise the Delinquency Policy and associated
procedures of the VCU given that the last update was done in
2016 and the unfavourable prevailing economic conditions where
delinquency is likely to increase. The need for strengthening the
capabilities of the unit was also identified. Despite the challenges,
the unit continues to perform. One of their achievements was
a $1.2 million recovery from recently written off loans, which
was a laudable feat. The unit continues to aggressively pursue
collections using innovative approaches including the use of
external debt collection agencies.
Management’s Comments
The revision was delayed in 2021 due to the vagaries of
COVID-19. New target date for completion is Q3 2022.
Human Resource Management
There is continuing concern with the number of vacancies
at the managerial level of the Credit Union and the setback
experienced in 2021 with the sudden departure of the recently
hired HR Manager. Efforts aimed at addressing the situation is
noted with a new HR Manager expected to take up duty from
March 1, 2022.
The CEO must be complemented for the valiant effort made
during 2021 in carrying out the role of HR Manager along with
her many other duties. Several HR initiatives were rolled out to
treat with staff needs during the escalating COVID-19 cases to
the satisfaction of most employees.
Management’s Comments
We will make every effort to fill all vacancies by Q2 2022.
We consider our Human Resources as a valued segment of
our Society and we will continue to treat with them as such.
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Structure and Staffing of the ICT Department
A review of the structure and staffing of the ICT department
was completed and recommendations made for strengthening
the capabilities of the unit given the strategic requirements
of the organization as outlined in VENTURE’s 2022 - 2024
Strategic Plan.
Management’s Comments
We expect approval and staffing of the ICT Department to
be completed by Q2 2022.
Member Services
In terms of Members’ Services, the Supervisory Committee
identified two areas of concern namely CUNA Products
particularly the Family Indemnity Plan (FIP) and member inbranch service at tellers.

economic outcomes for members. The focus going forward
must therefore be on marshalling the resources required to
flawlessly execute the plan.
Conclusion
The entire VSC places on record our profound gratitude to
the Board of Directors, Management Team, and staff for the
cooperation and support during fiscal 2021.
In my capacity of Chairman of the VSC, I wish to personally
thank you the members of VENTURE Credit Union, the staff,
management and Board of Directors as well as my fellow
colleagues on the Committee, for the honour of serving you
during the past year and wish all of you and this prestigious
organization the greatest success in the future.

The Supervisory committee makes the following recommendations:
1. Continued collaboration with CUNA on reconciling
members accounts
2.

Relief teller system at peak periods to facilitate faster
turnover in branch

3.

Education drive to sensitize members on the use
of VENTURE online facilities; Direct deposit from
FCB, RBC and RBL to reduce the volume of in branch
customers.

Andre Edwards
Chairman, Supervisory Committee

Management’s Comments
The Products Area which includes the CUNA products has been
re-organized and is receiving more Management oversight.
COVID-19 has identified the need for the Society to explore
alternative channels / methods for delivery. The option to
utilize relief tellers will be further explored. We will continue
to utilize webinars / direct mail to assist with the migration
of our Members to online services.
Health and Safety
Health and Safety remained a priority for VENTURE during 2021.
Despite staff turnover in the Facilities and HSSE unit during the
period, several initiatives were successfully implemented to
mitigate health and safety risks for employees and members. The
VSC however, identified several opportunities for improvement.
Management’s Comments
The protocols implemented during 2020 were constantly
being revised in 2021 due to the changes communicated by
the Ministry of Health. Several improvements, including the
revision of the Health & Safety Committee will be pursued
into 2022.
Future Focus
Given the raging COVID-19 pandemic and the resultant
impacts during 2021, the Board, Management and Staff must
be commended for the heroic efforts made in developing a
comprehensive strategic plan to guide VCU’s operation over
the next three-year period. The plan, if well executed, will
transform VENTURE into a more member centric and digitally
savvy organization which ultimately would translate into better
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L-R: Avinash Persad, Bernadine Warrick, Wendell Mitchell, Dorinda Baxter, Denis Basso

CREDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
1ST January 2021 – 31ST December 2021
In accordance with VENTURE Credit Union’s Bye-law No.
44 which states that “The Committee shall meet once each
week and additional meetings shall be held from time to time as
business may require,” during the period under review (2021),
the Credit Committee met on fifty-two (52) occasions to
carefully enquire into the financial position of borrowing
Members. The attendance of team members with overall
responsibility for the credit portfolio was as follows:
Table 1: Attendance of Credit Committee Members for the period
January – December 2021
Name

Position

Present

Excused

Absent

Table 2: Statistical Data for the period under review
APPROVED LOANS
Investment

AMOUNT ($TT)

19

$764,593.65

Motor Vehicles

283

$30,426,229.47

House construction/Repairs

302

$46,305,792.40

1

$6,000.00

Medical

23

$1,132,528.63

Education

50

$1,485,858.48

Business

7

$507,840.00

Legal

5

$150,371.67

139

$3,270,042.31

Travel/Vacation

Personal
Domestic/ Appliances

Wendell Mitchell

Chairman

52

0

0

Christmas

Dorinda Baxter

Secretary

52

0

0

Rescheduled

Denis Basso

Member

43

9

0

Dsebt Consolidation

Bernadine Warrick

Member

27

25

0

TOTAL

Avinash Persad

Member

48

4

0

LOANS DENIED

For the period 2021, the Committee reviewed one
thousand, five hundred and seventy-two 1572 loans. Of
these applications, the Committee was able to approve one
thousand, two hundred and ten 1210 loans, at a total value of
one hundred and twenty million, seven hundred and twentysix thousand, three hundred and fifty-two dollars and fortysix cents ($120,726,352.46). This therefore represented
seventy-seven percent (77%) of the loan applications
submitted. See Table 2 for a breakdown of the statistical data
for the period under review. The break down is in TT$

UNITS

LOANS ON HOLD
TOTAL OF ALL 2021
APPLICATIONS

21

$948,117.19

152

$4,211,777.04

46

$8,278,915.19

162

$23,238,286.43

1210

$120,726,352.46

356

$33,775,958.07

6

$436,240.00

1572

$154,938,550.53

Though the number of loans reviewed increased by 21.98%
when compared to the period in 2020 where (1293) loans
were reviewed, the value of loans approved decreased
by 9.41% in comparison to 2020, where the value of loans
approved amounted to one hundred and thirty-three million,
two hundred and sixty-seven thousand, one dollar and thirty
cents ($133,267,001.30) (Table 3).
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Loan Applications Approved Jan - Dec 2021

Table 3: Comparison of Loans reviewed and its Value for the
periods 2020 and 2021
Period

Loans Reviewed

Loan Value (TT$)

2020

1293

$133, 267, 001.30

2021

1572

$120,726,352.46

% Inc / Dec

21.98% Inc

9.41% Dec

During the period as seen in Table 2, three hundred and
fifty-six (356) / 23% of the loan applications, valued at thirtythree million, seven hundred and seventy-five thousand,
nine hundred and fifty-eight dollars and seven cents
($33,775,958.07) were not approved. The reasons for these
loans being denied approval included, no credit history, poor
payment history, exposure, debt consolidation, poor credit
history, high Debt Service Ratio (DSR), short job tenure,
delinquency, unable to verify income, co-maker required, fully
secured only and deviation from/outside of the loan policy/
promotion. Most of these loans, one hundred and fifty-five
(155) / 43.53%, were Motor Vehicle loan applications as seen
in the Table below (Table 4).
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Table 4: Type of Loans Not Approved
LOANS NOT
APPROVED
Investment
Motor Vehicles
House construction/
Repairs

AMOUNT

UNITS
3

$43,763.00

155

$15,358,630.29

79

$9,141,703.50

Travel/Vacation

2

Medical

3

$80,360.00

Education

3

$109,240.00

Business

5

1,134,160.00

Legal

0

$0

32

$759,834.03

Personal
Domestic/ Appliances
Christmas
Rescheduled
Debt Consolidation
TOTAL
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$345,120.00

2

$85,240.00

23

$545,610.00

1

$74,314.72

48

$6,097,982.53

356

$33,775,958.07

2021
Additionally, during the said period as seen in Table 2, six
(6) / (0.38%) of the loans reviewed, valued at four hundred
and thirty-six thousand, two hundred and forty dollars
($436,240.00) were placed on hold. Some of the reasons
included: additional security required, suitable co-maker
recommended and additional information required from
member to properly access application. Like most of the loans
not approved, four (4) / 67% of these loans placed on hold,
were Motor Vehicle Loans (Table 5).
Table 5: Type of Loans On Hold
DESCRIPTION

3

House

$463,695.00

2

Medical

$101,655.00

1

Gold line

$50,000.00

3

Motor Vehicle

3

Christmas

53

TOTAL

$440,120.00
$64,909.01
$4,025,249.15

Table 8: Share Withdrawals and Loan Waivers

Loans On Hold
NO.

VALUE

1

Education

$50,120.00

1

Home

$30,120.00

4

Motor Vehicle

$356,000.00

6

TOTAL

$436,240.00

Share Withdrawals & Loan
Waivers

Number

Share W/D Approved

Table 6: Loan Approvals under DLA
Loan Approvals under DLA
Arouca

165

$4,140,508.59

Couva

349

$13,455,925.35

San Fernando

169

$7,939,807.83

Total

683

$25,536,241.77

Staff Member Loans
As per Table 7 below, a total of fifty-three (53) staff loans
were approved. This was valued at four million, twenty-five
thousand, two hundred and forty-nine dollars and fifteen
cents ($4,025,249.15).

$1,774,841.59

Share W/D Denied

61

$603,028.65

Approved Waivers

679

$2,445,353.60

38

$372,205.00

With regard to the withdrawal of shares and loan waivers as
seen in Table 8, two hundred and fifty-one (251) applications
were made for share withdrawal. One hundred and ninety
(190)/(76%) of these applications were approved, at a
total value of one million, seven hundred and seventy-four
thousand, eight hundred and forty-one dollars and fiftynine cents ($1,774,841.59). Sixty-One (61)/(24%) of the
applications made, valuing six hundred and three thousand,
twenty-eight dollars and sixty-five cents ($603,028.65) were
not approved.
Of the seven hundred and seventeen (717) applications that
were made for loan waivers, (95%) six hundred and seventynine (609) were approved, valuing two million, four hundred
and forty-five thousand, three hundred and fifty-three dollars
and sixty cents ($2,445,353.60), whilst thirty-eight (38)/(5%)
of the applications made, valuing three hundred and seventytwo thousand, two hundred and five dollars ($372,205.00)
were denied.
Interviews
During the year 2021 there were seventeen (17) interviews
conducted, all virtually. Several decisions were made as
follows:
a. Refer to branch
b.

Co-maker recommended

c.

Share withdrawal was recommended

In addition, other loans were approved, some with conditions.

Table 7: Staff Member Loans
Approved
DESCRIPTION

Amount

190

Denied Waivers
Loan Supervision
The Credit Committee continues to randomly select and
review loans approved under the Delegated Lending
Authority (DLA) to ensure these approved loans conform to
VENTURE’s lending and credit policy. Under the DLA, sixhundred and eighty-three (683) loans were approved. Three
hundred and forty-nine (349) / (51%) of these loans approved
under the DLA came from the Couva Branch, followed by one
hundred and sixty-nine (169) / (25%) from the San Fernando
Branch and (24%) or one hundred and sixty-five (165) from
the Arouca Branch. The following is the statistical data in $TT
dollars for the period under review:

NO.
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VALUE

11

Debt Consolidation

$2,421,764.14

28

Personal

$421,786.00

2

Education

$61,320.00

Loan Applications and Payments made Easier!
In 2021, we continued to battle the crippling effects of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has therefore
continued to reshape the way organizations do business
especially with the aid of technology. Digital technology has
therefore become more relevant than ever; from customer
engagement to sales, service delivery and loan applications /
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disbursements. Considering this, we would like to encourage
Members to continue utilizing the undermentioned options of
online applications:
• 24-hour online and mobile banking services, via our
website and free mobile App
•

Online payment channels through Automated
Clearing House (ACH)

•

Applications for loan payment waivers via our
website, www.venturecreditunion.com, email and
in-branch drop box

•

Loan applications via our website, drop box or e-mail
using loans@venturecu.com

Cooperatively yours,

Wendell Mitchell
Chairman, Credit Committee
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exist, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as
a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

March 8, 2022
Port of Spain,
Trinidad, West Indies
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REPORT

Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
Notes

2021

2020

30,923,589
562,134,192
1,281,173
333,699
303,817,181
580,912,269
6,425,374

34,486,210
535,816,464
1,563,695
333,699
307,638,691
635,573,121
6,969,118

$1,485,827,477

$1,522,380,998

76,375,269
72,299,764

77,011,466
69,448,108

148,675,033

146,459,574

1,217,229,944
107,512,640
12,409,860

1,248,569,982
114,822,324
12,529,118

1,337,152,444

1,375,921,424

$1,485,827,477

$1,522,380,998

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Intangible asset
Investment property
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Other assets

3
4
5
6
7
8
9

TOTAL ASSETS
MEMBERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Undivided earnings
Reserve fund
Total Members’ Equity
LIABILITIES
Members’ share savings
Members’ deposits
Other funds and liabilities

11
10
12

Total Liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of VENTURE Credit Union Cooperative
Society Limited and authorised for issue on March 8, 2022

__________________
President

____________________
Supervisory Committee

____________________
Chief Executive Officer
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
Notes
REVENUE
Interest on loans to members
Income from investments
Other income

2021

13
14

41,485,859
34,691,408
3,012,435

51,810,139
24,367,802
1,641,996

79,189,702

77,819,937

18,777,101
13,601,025
3,882,164
3,629,587
1,858,280
1,767,171
1,695,494
1,115,688
988,147
673,613
667,686
636,224
376,276
315,937
237,761
159,957
53,331
44,485
645,619

18,911,574
10,338,014
4,054,805
4,137,029
2,042,671
841,447
1,864,242
564,261
1,202,363
1,803,223
831,212
616,522
357,199
320,149
324,597
35,313
33,658
486,055

51,125,546

48,764,334

$ 28,064,156

$ 29,055,603

Total revenue
EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Expected credit losses on loans to members
Occupancy costs
Depreciation and amortization
Office expenses
Expected credit losses on investments
CUNA insurance
Professional fees
Interest on members’ deposits and savings
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Advertising and promotions
Board and committee expenses
Other finance costs
Insurance
AGM and SGM expenses
Strategic expenses
Co-operative costs
Education
Other expenses

15
8.6
16
4
19
18
17

Total expenditure
Net Surplus for the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ANNUAL
REPORT

Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Reserve
Fund
Opening balance at January 1, 2021
Net Surplus for the year
Entrance fees
Transfer to Children’s Foundation Fund
Transfer to Common Good Fund
Transfer to Member of the Future Fund
Interest rebates paid
Dividends paid
Closing balance at December 31, 2021
Opening balance at January 1, 2020
Net Surplus for the year
Entrance fees
Unclaimed shares and deposits
Transfer to Children’s Foundation Fund
Transfer to Common Good Fund
Transfer to Member of the Future Fund
Interest rebates paid
Dividends paid
Closing balance at December 31, 2020

69,448,108
2,806,416
45,240
$ 72,299,764
66,445,018
2,905,560
95,830
1,700
$ 69,448,108

Undivided
Earnings
77,011,466
25,257,740
(50,000)
(250,000)
(100,000)
(894,784)
(24,599,153)
$ 76,375,269
83,441,518
26,150,043
(50,000)
(200,000)
(100,000)
(3,953,453)
(28,276,642)
$ 77,011,466

Total Members’
Equity
146,459,574
28,064,156
45,240
(50,000)
(250,000)
(100,000)
(894,784)
(24,599,153)
$ 148,675,033
149,886,536
29,055,603
95,830
1,700
(50,000)
(200,000)
(100,000)
(3,953,453)
(28,276,642)
$ 146,459,574

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
2021
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net surplus for the year
Adjustments to reconcile net surplus for the year to net cash
provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Expected credit loss on loans to members
Expected credit loss on investments
Unrealised (gain) loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Unrealised loss on foreign currency translation
Transfer to Children’s Foundation Fund
Transfer to Common Good Fund
Transfer to Member of the Future Fund
Working capital changes
Decrease in other assets
(Decrease)/increase in other funds and liabilities
Decrease in members’ deposits
Net cash provided by operating activities

2020

28,064,156

29,055,603

3,629,587
673,613
13,601,025
1,767,171

4,137,029
1,803,223
10,338,014
841,447

(9,649,912)
(7,000)
(50,000)
(250,000)
(100,000)

1,647,248
9,335
(50,000)
(200,000)
(100,000)

543,744
(119,258)
(7,309,684)

2,135,632
1,181,959
(531,170)

30,793,442

50,268,320

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Loans issued to members
Loan repayments by members
Purchase of investments including capitalised interest
Disposal proceeds from sale and maturity of investments

(444,535)
(13,522)
(119,623,815)
160,683,642
(136,110,721)
117,682,734

(727,527)
(146,774)
(131,190,139)
170,322,866
(170,217,549)
110,254,890

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

22,173,783

(21,704,233)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net of subscriptions and redemptions of members’ share savings
Dividends paid
Interest rebates paid
Unclaimed shares and deposits
Entrance fees received
Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(31,340,038)
(24,599,153)
(894,784)
45,240

(21,741,265)
(28,276,642)
(3,953,453)
1,700
95,830

(56,788,735)

(53,873,830)

(3,821,510)

(25,309,743)

307,638,691

332,948,434

$ 303,817,181

$ 307,638,691

Cash

150,004,532

159,862,798

Short term investments

153,812,649

147,775,893

$ 303,817,181

$ 307,638,691

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Represented by:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
1. Incorporation and Business Activities
VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) was incorporated under the Cooperative Societies Act 1971 of Trinidad and Tobago (the “Act”) on March 3, 1997. It was formed in
order to improve the economic and social conditions of its members chiefly by promoting savings among
its members and providing loans to members for provident and productive purposes. Its registered
office is #2 Noel Street North, Couva 550623, Trinidad and Tobago.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets measured at fair
value and certain property.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Society’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.12.
(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards applicable to the Society
in the current year which were adopted by the Society
There were no new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards
applicable to the Society in the current year which were adopted by the Society.
(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Society.
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments, which have not been applied
in these financial statements, will or may have an effect on the Company’s future financial
statements in the period of initial application. In all cases the entity intends to apply these
standards from application date as indicated in the note below.
In May 2020, the IASB issued the following, which are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2022:
o
o

minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
amendments to IAS 37, which specify the costs a company includes when assessing
whether a contract will be lossmaking and is therefore recognised as an onerous contract.
These amendments are expected to result in more contracts being accounted for as
onerous contracts because they increase the scope of costs that are included in the
onerous contract assessment.

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, which clarify how an entity classifies
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments initially had an effective date of January
1, 2022, however, in July 2020 this was deferred until January 1, 2023 as a result of the COVID19 pandemic. These amendments are expected to have a significant impact on many entities,
with more liabilities being classified as current, particularly those with covenants relating to
borrowings.
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VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Society (continued)
The IASB, at its meeting held in June 2021, tentatively decided to amend the requirements in
IAS 1 with respect to the classification of liabilities subject to conditions and disclosure of
information about such conditions and to defer the effective date of the 2020 amendment by
at least one year to annual reporting periods beginning no earlier than on or after January 1,
2024.
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, which change the disclosure
requirements with respect to accounting policies from ‘significant accounting policies’ to
‘material accounting policy information’. The amendments provide guidance on when
accounting policy information is likely to be considered material. The amendments to IAS 1 are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with earlier
application permitted.
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, which added the definition of
Accounting Estimates in IAS 8. The amendments also clarified that the effects of a change in
an input or measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates, unless resulting from
correction of prior period errors. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Other standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards in issue but not yet
effective are not considered to be relevant to the Company and have not been disclosed.
(iv) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards early adopted by the
Society.
The Society did not early adopt any new revised or amended standards.

2.2

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Society are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the Society operates (the ‘functional currency’).
The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, which is the Society’s
functional and presentation currency.
(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.3

Financial assets and liabilities
The Society’s financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position
when it becomes a party to the contractual obligation of the instrument.
(i)

Financial assets
The Society classifies its financial assets based on the following business models:
•
•
•

Held for trading
Hold to collect and sell or
Hold to collect

Based on the Society’s business model, financial assets are classified into the following
categories:
-

Amortized cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), and that are not recognised
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) are measured at amortised cost. The carrying
amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised
and measured as described in note 2.4. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in “net interest income” on the statement of comprehensive income using
the effective interest rate method.
The Society classifies its most of its debt instruments, its fixed deposits, its cash and
cash equivalents its loans to members and its other assets except prepayments as
financial instruments at amortised cost.

-

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the asset cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and
that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amounts are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains and losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost, which are
recognised in profit and loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “Net interest income” on the statement of comprehensive income. The
interest income from these financial assets is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method.
The Society classifies its certain equity instruments and notes as financial instruments
at FVOCI.

-

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the statement of comprehensive income
within realised gain or loss on sale of investments in the period in which it is paid,
unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated at fair value or which are
not held for trading, in which case they are presented in “net interest income”.
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(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i)

Financial assets (continued)
-

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (continued)
Interest income from these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the
effective interest rate method.
The Society classifies its equity instruments and mutual funds as financial instruments at
FVPL.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. The Society subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Dividends earned on equity instruments are recognized in the profit or loss when the Society’s
right to receive payments is established.
Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the statement of
comprehensive income.
Debt instruments
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the
issuer’s perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds.
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:
I.The cash flow characteristics of the asset, and
II.The Society’s business model for managing the asset
Society’s business model
The business model reflects how the Society manages the assets in order to generate cash flows.
An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors such as:
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•

the stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice.
More specifically whether the Society’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows from
the sale of assets;

•

past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected;

•

determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to
key management personnel;

•

management identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not limited
to liquidity risk, market risk credit risk and interest rate risk;

•

how managers are compensated e.g. if compensation is based on the fair value of assets
managed or contractual cash flows collected.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i)

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)
Arising out of the assessment, the portfolio was deemed to have the business model identified
as “hold to collect”
The Society reclassifies debt instruments when, and only when, it's business model for managing
those assets changes. The classification takes place from the start of the first reporting period
following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred
during the period.
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Society assesses whether flows represent solely payment of
principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Society considers whether the
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes
only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement,
the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risks of change in value. These are shown at cost,
which is equivalent to fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents also comprise cash balances which are payable on demand and
deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts
are disclosed as current liabilities.
Loans to members
Member loans are initially measured at cost, net of loan origination fees and inclusive of
transaction costs incurred. They are subsequently measured at their recoverable amounts
representing the aggregate amount of principal, less any expected credit losses.
Other assets excluding prepayments
This amount represents net accrued interest income for investments and members’ loans.
Recognition/de-recognition of financial assets
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date- the date on which
the Society commits to purchase or sell the financial asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or the Society has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(ii) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities include Members’ share savings and deposits
and other funds and liabilities. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been
redeemed or otherwise extinguished (that is, when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired).
Members’ deposits
Members’ deposits are initially measured at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly
attributable to the issuance of the instrument. Members’ deposits are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Retiree members’ deposits represent funds collected from members that have been invested
on their behalf. They are initially measured at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly
attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.
Members’ share savings
Upon opening an account at the Society, new members are required to subscribe for a
minimum of one share. Subsequently, every member subscribes at least one share per month
to his/her share capital in the Society. Members can withdraw all or any portion of their
unencumbered shares from the Society at any time.
Members’ share savings are classified as other financial liabilities under the International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and are
measured at par value.
Dividends are paid on an annual basis at rates that are determined at the Annual General
Meeting of members of the Society. Dividends are calculated based on the monthly minimum
share balance of each active member of the Society and distributed via additional shares and
credits to members’ deposits.
Other funds and liabilities
Liabilities for trade creditors and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities
and initially measured at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the
issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.
Included within this financial statement caption are the following funds which do not qualify
as financial instruments:
i)

Children’s Foundation Fund
This comprises funds collected from members, fundraising events of the Society and
allocations from net surplus after statutory deductions to the Reserve Fund (approved by
the membership at the Annual General Meeting), to assist underprivileged children in
Trinidad and Tobago.

ii)

Common Good Fund
This represents funds allocated from net surplus after statutory deduction to the Reserve
Fund (approved by the membership at the Annual General Meeting), to assist individuals,
schools and non-profit organizations for social, educational, cultural and charitable
purposes.
-13-
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.4 Impairment
Financial assets
At the reporting date, the Society assesses on a forward-looking basis, the credit losses associated
with its financial assets measured at amortized cost and fair value through other comprehensive
income, (excluding any equity instruments)
-

The Society measures loss allowances on its debt instruments at an amount equal to lifetime
credit losses, except in the following cases, for which the amount recognized is 12 months
credit losses.

-

For receivables, the Society applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.

-

Expected credit loss on loans to members are recognised based on the three-stage approach
within IFRS 9 as follows:
Stage 1 represents 12 month expected credit losses (gross interest)
▪
▪
▪

Applicable when no significant increase in credit risk
Entities continue to recognise 12 month expected losses that are updated at each
reporting date
Presentation of interest on gross basis

Stage 2 represents lifetime expected credit losses (gross interest)
▪
▪
▪

Applicable in case of significant increase in credit risk
Recognition of lifetime expected losses
Presentation of interest on gross basis

Stage 3 represents - lifetime expected credit losses (net interest)
▪
▪
▪

Applicable in case of credit impairment
Recognition of lifetime expected losses
Presentation of interest on a net basis

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Society’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is adjusted to reflect the revised estimate.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata
basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment and major components that
are accounted for separately with the exception of land which is not depreciated.
Depreciation and amortisation have been provided at rates sufficient to write-off the assets over
their estimated useful lives. The rates are as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Office furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Freehold buildings

20%
20%
33.33%
2%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their
carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining the net surplus for the period.
2.6 Investment property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for
both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The Society solely held land at the year-end as investment property.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
2.7 Intangible asset
The Society’s intangible assets are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Upon retirement or
disposal of the intangible asset, the gain or loss, if any, is reflected in the net surplus for the year.
Amortization is provided on the straight-line basis over ten years which is estimated to write off
the costs of the assets over its estimated useful lives. Annual license fees and maintenance costs
are expensed as incurred.
2.8 Provisions
Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount, that have arisen as a result
of past transactions, including legal or constructive obligations. The provision is measured at the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.9

Reserve fund
In accordance with the Act (Section 47(2)) and Bye Law 58 of the Society, at least 10% of the net
surplus of each year is transferred to the Reserve Fund. The reserve fund is indivisible and no
member is entitled to any specific share thereof.
Under Regulation 47 of the Co-operative Society Act 1971, the Reserve Fund of a society may,
with the approval of the Commissioner, be applied to meet bad debts or losses sustained through
extraordinary circumstances over which the Society has no control.

2.10 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises interest on loans to members as well as income from investments.
The interest charged on loans to members is calculated at rates varying between 0.5% and 1.5%
per month on the reducing balance and is recognised on the accrual basis net of provisions for
expected credit losses. See note 13.
All other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
2.11 Taxation
The profits arising from the Society are exempt from income tax, as per the Corporation Tax Act
section 6 (1) (d).
2.12 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
financial year are discussed below:
(i) Allowances for credit losses
Loans to members and investments accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for
impairment on a basis described in note 2.4.
(ii) Financial asset and liability classification
The Society’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on
inception into different accounting categories. In classifying financial assets or liabilities as
“fair value through profit or loss”, the Society has determined that it meets the description of
trading assets and liabilities.
(iii) Intangible asset
The Society based the classification of its core operating software on the following:
•

the software was purchased as a separate item, apart from hardware

•

its remaining useful economic life has been estimated at seven years, as the platform
on which it currently runs is expected to be functional and serviceable throughout this
period.
PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY
-16-

|

59

VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

VENTURE CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance at December 31, 2021

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2021
Depreciation charge
Depreciation charge on disposals

Balance at December 31, 2021

Year ended December 31, 2021
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2021
Additions
Disposal

4,606,577

4,606,577
-

$4,606,577

-

-

4,606,577

4,606,577
-

Freehold
Land

-

(4,818,057)

(5,338,167)
(566,117)
204,385
881,842

26,270,939

29,975,437
30,780
(1,170,090)
(2,565,188)

$20,461,495

(5,117,037)

(4,818,057)
(493,143)
194,163

25,578,532

26,270,939
112,942
(805,349)

Freehold
Buildings

(911,754)

921,383

(1,607,344)
(225,793)

1,326,078

2,307,011
44,415
(1,025,348)

$239,201

(1,086,877)

(911,754)
(175,123)
-

1,326,078

1,326,078
-

Leasehold
Improvements

(3,858,311)

(3,424,668)
(293,641)
(232,176)
92,174

4,268,637

3,967,466
157,577
235,768
(92,174)

$307,789

(4,143,409)

(3,858,311)
(285,098)
-

4,451,198

4,268,637
182,561
-

Computer
Equipment

$ 7,471,156

(13,491,579)

(11,144,717)
(2,766,405)
27,791
391,752

20,962,735

20,027,016
409,061
934,322
(407,664)

$5,177,582

(15,774,886)

(13,491,579)
(2,380,179)
96,872

20,952,468

20,962,735
149,032
(159,299)

Office
Furniture &
Equipment

$130,945

-

-

130,945

45,251
85,694
-

$130,945

-

-

130,945

130,945
-

(23,079,701)

(21,514,896)
(3,851,956)
2,287,151

57,565,911

60,928,758
727,527
(4,090,374)

$30,923,589

(26,122,209)

(23,079,701)
(3,333,543)
291,035

57,045,798

57,565,911
444,535
(964,648)

3. Property, Plant and Equipment

Year ended December 31, 2020
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2020
Additions
Reclass/transfer
Disposal

-

$410,326

$ 34,486,210

Total

Balance at December 31, 2020

-

$414,324

Capital Work
in Progress

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation charge
Reclass/transfer
Depreciation charge on disposals

$21,452,882

Net book value at December 31, 2021

Balance at December 31, 2020

$4,606,577

Net book value at December 31, 2020
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4.

Investments
2021
Units

2021
Fair value

2020
Fair value

9,844
28,695
145,589
101,828
500,500
38,412
25,000
31,000
3,628
67,325
204,200
44,212
56,433
15,099
848
75,453
28,290
51,659
159,816
22,581

319,930
1,242,494
4,567,127
6,342,866
3,053,050
1,152,360
76,000
103,850
7,075
7,069,125
1,635,642
194,975
395,031
2,116,276
604,943
2,679,911
1,937,865
572,141
1,079,673
643,559

236,158
1,146,939
3,676,122
4,381,659
1,926,925
802,811
85,500
97,030
7,800
4,106,152
1,660,146
213,986
428,891
2,038,214
470,835
2,670,274
1,640,820
878,203
399,540
779,045

1,080
962
2,234
5,104
9,628
3,992
15,667
33,287
4,302,600
9,225
128,928

1,080,321
546,866
151,063
102,074
651,095
309,832
156,669
2,969,626
15,218,296
792,732
2,704,908

1,080,321
532,423
149,681
100,773
639,460
272,342
154,202
2,456,027
13,910,808
738,024
2,399,349

$60,477,375

$50,080,460

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Equity Instruments
Agostini Limited
ANSA Merchant Bank Limited
Clico Investment Fund
First Citizens Bank Limited
Grace Kennedy Limited
Guardian Holdings Limited
Guardian Media Limited
National Enterprise Limited
National Flour Mills Limited
Massy Holdings Limited
NCB Financial Group
One Caribbean Media Limited
Prestige Holdings Limited
Republic Bank Limited
Royal Bank of Canada
Sagicor Financial Corporation
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago
T&T NGL Limited
Trinidad Cement Limited
West Indian Tobacco Company Limited
Mutual Funds
ANSA Ltd Secured Fund
ANSA TTD Income Fund
First Citizens Bank Limited Paria USD Fund
First Citizens Bank Limited Abercrombie Fund
Guardian Asset Management Limited - USD Income Fund
Guardian Asset Management Limited - Mutual Funds
Guardian Asset Management Limited - TTD Income Fund
Manulife Mutual Fund
Roytrin Income& Growth Fund
Savinvest India Asia Fund
T&T Unit Trust Corporation – First Unit Scheme
Total financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss
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4.

Investments (continued)

2021
Amortised
Cost

2020
Amortised
Cost

17,125,125
12,073,450

16,569,191
14,171,118

-

19,985,063

5,236,712
5,059,212
5,766,447
5,597,772
5,653,145
5,786,235
7,148,253

5,501,567
5,625,869
5,609,376
5,440,002
5,059,212
5,071,486
5,125,103

5,968,388
5,488,461
4,115,135
12,436,455
3,036,611
3,331,382
20,415,315
5,140,159
20,207,837
1,481,721
3,989,497
4,593,226
10,174,893
15,160,433
2,063,548
4,144,584
7,698,422
10,102,329
10,167,171
5,167,901
7,671,114
10,038,163
4,399,749
9,105,147

5,959,954
5,595,847
4,115,135
12,440,230
3,393,837
3,294,797
20,443,553
5,142,091
4,464,594
4,433,162
4,593,288
10,174,904
15,184,961
2,087,548
4,196,757
7,709,735
10,102,329
6,035,480
7,678,351
10,040,150
4,401,473
9,088,809

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Government and corporate bonds, participatory investments,
treasury bills, fixed deposits and repurchase agreements
Participatory Investments
KCL Capital Market Brokers Limited
Firstline Securities Limited
Treasury Bills
Repurchase agreements
TRITOB 4.375% Bond due 2024
Government of Trinidad Local Eurobond 4.5% due 08/4/2026
Home Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd Local Bond 4.7% due 12/28/2023
Home Mortgage Bank Local Bond 5.00% due 01/11/2024
Government of Trinidad Local Eurobond 4.5% due 08/04/2026
Government of Trinidad Local Eurobond54.5% due 06/09/2032
T & T Mortgage Finance Co Ltd Local Bond 4.7% due 12/28/2023
Home Mortgage Bank Local Bond 3.50% due 01/11/2024
TRITOB 4.375% Bond due 2024
Government of Trinidad Local Bond 5.50 % due 2032
KSBM Asset Management Limited
Bonds
GORTT TT$1,000M 4.50% Bond due 2028
GORTT 6.5% Local Bond due 2025
GORTT TT$1,000M 3.80% Fixed Rate Bond due 2022
GORTT TT $1,000M 4.1% Fixed Rate Local Bond due 2025
Government of T&T 4.5% Bond 2030
GORTT 2.8% Local Bond 2026
GORTT TT$1700MM 3.05% Fixed Rate Local Bond 2020
GORTT TT$800MM 4.9% Fixed Rate Bond 2029
GORTT TT $1.5BN 5.74% Fixed Rate Bond due 2040
GORTT TT$800MM 4.94% Fixed Rate Bond 2032
Government of T&T (CLICO) Bond
Government of T&T (HCU) Bond
NIF Series A 4.5% Bonds 2023
NIF Series B 5.7% Bonds 2030
NIF Series C 6.6% Bonds 2038
NIPDEC 6.55% Fixed Rate Bond 2030
NIPDEC 6.25% Local Bond 2028
NIPDEC 5.02% Fixed Rate Loan 2029
NIPDEC 4.15% Fixed Rate Syndicated Loan 2027
NIPDEC 4.5% Fixed Rate Loan 2028
NIDCO 4.9% Fixed Rate Bond 2031
NIDCO 4.78% Fixed Rate Loan 2028
NMTS TT$400M 4.45% Fixed Rate Bond 2028
Massy Holding Limited 5.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2029
Massy Holding Ltd. 4.0% Fixed Rate Bond due 2024
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4.

Investments (continued)

2021
Amortised
Cost

2020
Amortised
Cost

2,034,731
5,007,683
9,107,408
21,270,716
15,614,543
7,574,441
1,080,328
1,391,572
1,468,822
513,724
4,101,154
2,112,530
5,897,341
569,437
6,852,957
650,381
12,853,602
5,091,580
28,494
691,419
1,306,114
2,049,816
4,840,554
1,208,621
5,502,125
20,032,235
15,129,452
18,019,500
5,043,282
5,094,795
5,832,369
1,796,649
3,690,868
7,546,233
5,105,411
2,023,052

2,034,731
5,017,445
9,107,408
7,528,890
20,196,454
15,635,998
7,405,047
1,080,120
6,672,496
1,392,941
1,478,964
522,720
4,109,831
2,115,413
6,304,796
652,219
6,866,949
643,406
12,868,187
5,108,680
85,737
693,966
1,284,343
2,050,126
4,811,314
1,510,813
15,070,991
5,502,125
18,025,644
5,054,344
5,094,795
7,238,525
1,004,456
2,515,366
4,531,041
5,016,274
7,546,233
5,105,411
2,330,822

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)
Government and corporate bonds, participatory investments,
treasury bills, fixed deposits and repurchase agreements
(continued)
Bonds (continued)
T&T Mortgage Finance Co Ltd 4.56% Fixed Rate Bond 2024
GAMISL Synthetic TT$ GORTT Note due 2026
FCISL TT$200M Medium Term Notes Due 2020
JMMB 3.7% Fixed Rate Secured Note 2021
Value Asset International SA Bond 2025
WASA $TT125M 6.00% Fixed Rate Loan due 2028
Giant Screen Entertainment Holding Limited
Odebrecht Financial 5.125% Fixed Rate Bond 2022
Jusamco Pavers Ltd. Senior Secured Amortising Note 2026
Bahama 5.75% Bond due 16th Jan 2024
Bahama 6.95% Bond due 20th Nov 2029
Government of Barbados 7.0% Bond 2022
Caribbean Airlines Ltd. US$65 7.307% Fixed Rate Loan 2025
Caribbean Airlines Ltd. US$64.2M 5.875% Fixed Rate bond 2029
Caribe Hospitality of T & T 7% Fixed Rate Loan 2025
CBL & Associates LP 4.6% Bond 2024
Citigroup TTD 3.15% Fixed Rate Medium Term Note 2024
Embraer Netherlands Finance 5.05% Bond 2025
ERHA TT$500M 5.1% Fixed Rate Loan 2030
FCBL $860.75MM 4.5% Fixed Rate Bond due 2024
Petrotrin 6% Bond 2022
Prospect Capital Corporation 5.875% Bond 2023
Motorola Solutions Inc 4% Bond 2024
Tringen 5.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2027
TRITOB 4.50% Bond 2026
T&T Mortgage Finance Co Ltd 4.24% Fixed Rate Bond 2025
T&T Mortgage Finance Co Ltd 4.62% Fixed Rate Bond 2021
T&T Mortgage Finance Co Ltd 4.70% Fixed Rate Bond 2023
T&T Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd 3.9% Fixed Rate Bond 2022
T&T Mortgage Finace Co. Ltd. 5.0% Bridge-Bod 2022
Home Mortgage Bank Secured Floating Rate Bond 2021
Home Mortgage Bank Secured Floating Rate Bond 2022
Home Mortgage Bank Secured Floating Rate Bond 2024
Home Mortgage Bank Secured Floating Rate Bond 2025
T&T Housing Development Corporation 3.75% Fixed Rate Loan
T & T HDC TT$ 3.017BN 4.155% Fixed Rate Loan due 2024
Urban Development Corporation of T&T 5.05% Fixed Rate Loan 2026
Urban Development Corporation of T&T 3.30% Fixed Rate Loan 2021
Urban Development Corporation of T&T 5.0% Fixed Rate Loan 2028
Urban Development Corporation of T&T 4.5% Fixed Rate Loan 2027
Micon Marketing Ltd Senior Secured Loan 2027
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4.

Investments (continued)

2021
Amortised
Cost

2020
Amortised
Cost

2,000,000
5,417,644
5,331,811
28,000,000

2,000,000
6,500,000
5,290,668
5,000,000
8,000,000

$504,427,386

$486,740,661

130,028,814
179,553,008
194,845,564

142,263,623
153,233,389
191,243,649

$504,427,386

$486,740,661

2021
Fair Value

2020
Fair Value

1,014,375
1,014,375
683,798
1,308

1,014,180
1,014,180
683,666
571

9,000
650,000

9,000
650,000

Total financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

$ 3,372,856

$ 3,371,597

Total investments
Less: expected credit loss on investments

568,277,617
(6,143,425)

540,192,718
(4,376,254)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)
Government and corporate bonds, participatory investments,
treasury bills, fixed deposits and repurchase agreements
(continued)
Fixed Deposits
Central Finance Facilities Co-operative Society T&T Ltd
CEMCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited
First Caribbean International Bank
JMMB Bank Term Deposit
NCB Global Finance Limited
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost
Repayment schedule of financial assets measured at amortised
cost
Maturity within a year
Maturity 1-5 years
Maturity >5 years
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Bonds
Corporate bonds, notes and repurchase agreements
Citigroup Steepener Callable Leveraged -CMS Spread Notes 2033
12% Societe Generale 20 Year Bond Note 31/08/2033
10% Societe Generale NY Medium Term Note due 31/10/2033
Guardian Asset Management: Exchange Traded funds
Equity instruments
Co-operative Credit Union League of T&T
Central Financing Facility

Net investments

$ 562,134,192

$ 535,816,464

KCL Capital Market Brokers Limited, KSBM Asset Management Limited and Firstline Securities Limited are
brokerage institutions. The investments held through these institutions as represented above are invested in
several individual securities, which include trade invoices, repurchase agreements and corporate paper.
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4.

Investments (continued)
The movement in investments is analysed as follows:
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Net premiums additions
Return on investments capitalised
Purchase of investments
Disposals
Current year expected credit losses on investments
Fair value (diminution) appreciation net of foreign
exchange loss
Balance at end of year

5.

2021

2020

535,816,464

478,352,835

133,789,914
1,573,217
747,590
136,110,721

166,967,927
2,360,974
888,648
170,217,549

(117,682,734)
(1,767,171)
9,656,912
$ 562,134,192

(110,254,890)
(841,447)
(1,657,583)
$ 535,816,464

Intangible Asset
The intangible asset primarily comprises the software cost related to the Society’s core application
for the operation of members’ accounts, which was purchased and installed in 2015 to replace the
Society’s previous application software. It includes the purchase cost as well as development costs
to tailor the software to the Society’s needs.
The Society has estimated the useful life of the software to be 10 years; hence it is amortised over
a 10 year period.
2021
2020
Opening Balance at January 1
Acquisitions during the year
Amortization during the year

6.

1,563,695
13,522
(296,044)

1,701,994
146,774
(285,073)

$ 1,281,173

$ 1,563,695

2021

2020

$ 333,699

$ 333,699

Investment Property
Investment Property

Investment property comprises freehold land held at Bacolet, Tobago.
7.

Cash and cash equivalents
T&T Unit Trust Corporation – second unit scheme
GORTT repurchase agreements due within 90 days
Roytrin money market fund
Guardian Asset Management Limited
- Private wealth client cash accounts
JMMB/Interactive Brokers cash account
Short term investments
Cash at bank
Cash in hand
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents

2021

2020

11,036,280
53,883,199
51,312,099

10,906,554
52,735,507
50,930,349

19,857,127
17,723,944

17,990,988
15,212,495

153,812,649

147,775,893

148,089,087
1,915,445

157,108,075
2,754,723

150,004,532

159,862,798

$303,817,181

$307,638,691
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8.

Loans to Members
8.1 Credit Concentration
Ordinary loans
Real estate loans
Small business loans
Special loans
Car loans
Debt consolidation loans
Soft mortgages
Christmas loans
VENTURE Gold Line loans
Medical/education loans
Less: expected credit loss on loans to members
Total loans net of expected credit loss
8.2 Analysis of movement in loan principal
Principal balance at beginning of the year
Principal amount of loans issued
Principal amount of loans repaid
Principal loan amounts written off
Principal balance at end of the year

2021
154,806,189
148,623,659
106,918,963
52,628,551
86,003,399
32,245,463
31,920,312
7,186,099
2,875,150
1,328,890
624,536,675
(43,624,406)

2020
197,054,490
147,183,043
136,783,359
87,066,668
85,091,047
49,868,671
24,715,810
4,466,185
2,532,491
1,835,763
736,597,527
(101,024,406)

$ 580,912,269

$ 635,573,121

2021

2020

736,597,527
119,623,815
(160,683,642)
(71,001,025)
$ 624,536,675

795,262,127
131,191,139
(170,322,866)
(19,532,873)
$ 736,597,527

8.3 Terms and conditions
Member loans carry a fixed rate of interest and varied between 0.33% and 1.5% per month for the
year ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020: 0.38% and 1.5%).
Ordinary loans consist of term loans that are not real estate or vehicle secured and, as such, have
various repayment terms.
Car loans consist of term loans secured by the vehicle being purchased. A down payment into
Members’ share savings is required depending on the status of the vehicle being purchased (10% down
payment for new vehicles, 20% down payment for foreign used vehicles, and 30% down payment for
local used vehicles).
Mortgages (real estate loans and soft mortgages) are loans and lines of credit secured by the
residential property (freehold or leasehold land and/or building). 10% of the requested loan must be
held in Members’ share savings prior to acquisition of the loan.
Small business loans consist of term loans to sole traders and partnerships and are secured by various
types of collateral.
Medical/education loans consist of term loans to members with sudden illnesses, accidents or tertiary
education financing needs.
Special loans may consist of term loans of any of the above categories and are offered to longstanding members of the Society or members employed by a host company. They are offered
preferential rates of interest and repayment terms.
Debt consolidation loans are used by members to consolidate existing debt.
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8. Loans to Members (continued)
8.4 Aging of loans to members
2021
409,369,811
100,309,891
114,856,973
624,536,675
(43,624,406)

Principal neither past due nor impaired
Principal which is past due but not impaired
Principal which is impaired
Gross Loans
Expected credit loss
Total loans net of expected credit loss

$ 580,912,269

2020
432,822,532
128,671,986
175,103,009
736,597,527
(101,024,406)
$ 635,573,121

For management purposes loans are considered to show signs of impairment when repayments due
are greater than thirty (30) days overdue.
8.5 Loans past due but not impaired
30-59 days
60-89 days
Greater than 90 days

2021
22,898,982
2,666,862
74,744,047

2020
32,689,294
7,845,872
88,136,820

$ 100,309,891

$ 128,671,986

8.6 Analysis of movement in expected credit loss
Balance at beginning of the year
Current year expected credit losses
Loans written off against expected credit loss
Balance at end of the year

2020

2021
101,024,406
13,601,025
(71,001,025)
$ 43,624,406

110,219,265
10,338,014
(19,532,873)
$ 101,024,406

The table below shows the staging of loans to members and the related expected credit losses.
December 31, 2021:

Stage 1
0 - 45 days
in arrears

Stage 2
46 – 90 days
in arrears

Stage 3
> 90 days
in arrears

Sum Total

Principal

432,268,793

2,666,862

189,601,020

624,536,675

(42,370,015)

(43,624,406)

Expected credit losses

(696,943)

(557,448)

$ 431,571,850

$ 2,109,414

147,231,005

December 31, 2020:

Stage 1
0 - 45 days
in arrears

Stage 2
46 – 90 days
in arrears

Stage 3
> 90 days
in arrears

Sum Total

Principal

465,511,826

7,845,872

263,239,829

736,597,527

(3,147,914)

(92,919,168)

(101,024,406)

Expected credit losses

(4,957,324)
$ 460,554,502

$ 4,697,958

$ 170,320,661

580,912,269

$ 635,573,121
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9. Other Assets
2021
Visa debit card prepayments
Interest receivable on loans
Prepaid expenses
Interest receivable on investments
Other receivables

3,689,899
1,209,545
1,131,833
923,124
(529,027)

10. Members’ Deposits
VENTURE deposit
Members’ saving deposit
Members’ savings plan
Members’ special deposit
Retiree members’ deposit
Members’ USD fixed deposit

2020
3,416,017
1,848,368
1,107,813
881,668
(284,748)

$ 6,425,374

$ 6,969,118

2021

2020

51,604,755
41,191,335
9,535,655
3,122,025
2,058,870
-

57,126,220
43,809,690
8,057,312
3,233,619
2,215,792
379,691

$ 107,512,640

$ 114,822,324

Terms and conditions of deposits:
VENTURE Deposit represents members’ funds placed with the Society for a fixed term, usually one
year, on which interest is paid monthly to members at rates varying between 0.5% and 1.25% per
annum. The minimum investment amount is $20,000.
Members’ Savings Deposit represents funds placed by members on deposit, from which they can withdraw
funds to meet their day to day living expenses. No interest is paid on this account.
Retiree Members’ Deposit represents funds collected from members who are retirees, which have been
specially invested on their behalf in other securities at competitive interest rates. Interest is paid
monthly.
Members’ Savings Plan represents savings plans operated on behalf of host companies for their employees
on terms and conditions negotiated with the Society.
Members’ Special Deposit represents funds placed by members on deposit, to be uploaded by the Society
to JMMB Bank (T&T) Limited to facilitate the use of the VENTURE Visa Debit Card.
Members’ USD Fixed Deposit represents members’ US$ funds placed with the Society for one (1) year at
1% per annum. The minimum investment amount is US$15,000. Interest is paid upon maturity, however,
this product is no longer offered.
11. Members’ Share Savings
The Society’s ability to lend is built upon the foundation of shares savings. The value of a share is
twenty dollars ($20.00). Members agree to save at least one share per month in order to maintain
active financial status. Savings can be made via:
(i)
Cash and cheque payments
(ii)
Salary deductions
(iii)
Standing orders
(iv)
Postdated cheques
Members can use their share savings as collateral for loans. Dividends are paid on a yearly basis at
a rate that is determined at Annual General Meeting.
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12. Other Funds and Liabilities
Accounts payable
CCULTT dues reserve
Members’ health plan and CUNA Premium
Common Good Fund
Provision for employee benefits
Employee benefits payable
Children’s Foundation Fund
Life Saving / Loan Protection Premium
Death claims payable
Unverified deposits
Unclaimed shares
Member of future funds
Other
13. Interest on Loans to Members
Ordinary loan interest
Soft mortgage and real estate loan interest
Special loan interest
Car loan interest - Used motor vehicle
Car loan interest - New motor vehicle
Debt consolidation loan interest
Commercial loan interest
Small business loan interest
Christmas loan interest
VENTURE Gold Line loan interest
Medical loan interest
Education loan interest

2021
4,618,134
2,734,485
1,638,259
730,190
435,906
201,409
324,172
135,057
197,217
9,948
96,672
199,800
1,088,611

2020
5,834,292
2,377,466
1,378,078
537,138
435,906
425,606
257,068
148,137
17,099
7,706
60
99,900
1,010,662

$ 12,409,860

$ 12,529,118

2021
16,208,032
11,715,435
4,467,367
2,997,736
2,497,393
1,436,938
861,869
482,224
382,238
291,340
99,718
45,569

2020
21,596,176
10,574,582
7,131,248
1,714,306
3,525,833
1,829,723
4,040,769
618,333
390,203
205,846
102,559
80,561

$41,485,859

$ 51,810,139

Further analysed as follows:
Interest received during the year
Interest receivable on overdue instalments
Expected credit losses on overdue interest

40,276,313
37,324,014
(36,114,468)

49,961,771
52,412,424
(50,564,056)

$ 41,485,859

$ 51,810,139

89,938
36,024,530

89,752
50,474,304

$ 36,114,468

$ 50,564,056

Expected interest credit losses by loan stage:
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
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14. Income from Investments

2021

Interest income
Net unrealised fair value gain/(loss)
Dividend income

24,145,965
9,649,912
895,531
$ 34,691,408

2020
25,256,472
(1,647,248)
758,578
$ 24,367,802

15. Personnel Costs
2021
Salaries
N.I.S. employer contribution
Pension plan contributions
Medical insurance - employer portion
Travel allowance
Ex-gratia payment
Gratuity
Uniforms
Cost of living allowance
Employee group life insurance
Staff relations
Acting appointments
Staff training
Overtime
Membership fees
Bonuses
Other employee benefits

Total number of employees

2020

14,132,547
1,057,159
1,065,441
526,529
338,500
522,079
205,622
169,331
165,875
155,588
151,045
145,546
31,695
24,086
7,223
75,238

14,313,042
1,054,530
1,012,987
487,618
461,669
239,064
70,311
155,375
162,613
129,993
42,617
22,037
27,825
8,574
717,159
6,160

$ 18,777,101

$ 18,911,574

111

110

16. Occupancy Costs
2021
Building security
Building maintenance
Office telephone
Rent
Utilities
Internet
Storage fees
Mobile phones
Health and safety
Cleaning
Cable charges
Facsimile
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910,159
414,794
332,550
296,052
217,890
134,951
128,681
116,222
54,170
18,000
-

1,426,993
900,567
390,823
342,000
309,914
215,538
121,128
197,199
66,899
62,697
18,825
2,222

$ 3,882,164

$ 4,054,805
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17. Interest on Members’ Deposits and Savings
2021
Interest
Interest
Interest
Interest

on
on
on
on

Members’
Members’
Members’
Members’

VENTURE Deposit
Savings Plan
USD Fixed Deposit
Retiree Deposit

18. Professional Fees

647,816
313,779
24,726
1,826

837,224
286,458
46,782
31,899

$ 988,147

$ 1,202,363

2021

Human Resources
Financial
Other

2020

2020

437,138
65,867
612,683

196,300
96,641
271,320

$ 1,115,688

$ 564,261

19. CUNA Insurance
This represents the premiums paid to CUNA for Life Savings and Loan Protection insurance coverage of
members’ funds.
20. Related Parties
20.1 Identity of a related party
A Party is related to the Society if:
(i)

Directly or indirectly, the party
•

controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Society;

•

has an interest in the Society that gives it significant influence over the Society; or

•

has joint control over the Society.

(ii)

The party is a member of the key management personnel of the Society.

(iii)

The party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (ii) above.

(iv)

The party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Society,
or any company that is a related party of the Society.

A number of banking transactions have been entered into with related parties in the normal
course of business. These transactions were conducted at market rates, on commercial terms
and conditions, except for certain loans made available to officers. Loans deemed to be below
market rates in accordance with personal income tax legislation are taxed as dictated for in law.
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20. Related Parties (continued)
20.2 Related party transactions and balances (continued)
(i) Outstanding balance
2021
Member loans to directors and key management
personnel
$ 4,316,886
Member deposit held by directors and key management
personnel
$ (235,600)
Member shares held by directors and key management
personnel
$ (12,802,448)

2020
$ 4,726,756
$ (472,293)
$ (11,860,307)

(ii) Transactions with key management personnel
Key Management comprises individual responsible for
planning, directing and controlling the activities
responsible for the Society
Interest income earned on member loans to directors and
key management personnel
Interest expenses incurred on member deposits and
shares held by directors and key management personnel
Key Management compensation:
Short term benefits

2021

2020

$ 271,631

$ 265,429

$ (1,068)

$ (1,202)

$ 1,785,298

$ 2,001,147

21. Financial Instruments
21.1 Financial risk management
The Society’s investment activities expose it to a number of financial risks:
•
•
•

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the management of financial and other
risks faced by the Society. The Board establishes and monitors the risk management policies
of the organisation which are reviewed regularly to reflect market conditions and the Society’s
activities.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties may default on their obligation
to the Society. The amount of the Society’s maximum exposure to credit risk is indicated
by the carrying amount of its financial assets. Financial assets which potentially expose
the Society to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of loans to members.
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21. Financial Instruments (continued)
21.1 Financial risk management (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)
Loans
Management of credit risk
The Credit Committee is responsible for the granting and general supervision of all loans to
members in accordance with the Loan and Mortgage Policy established by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors may from time to time revise the Loan Policy to reflect
market conditions and the activities of the Society. Loans Officers have delegated authority
to approve loans within specified limits. The Credit Committee and Loans Officers perform
internal credit assessments but also rely on external credit reports before loans are granted to
members.
Once members have the capacity to repay, loans are granted in accordance with the terms and
conditions outlined in the Loan Policy. The Credit Committee submits a report to the Board of
Directors on its activities on a quarterly basis. The Society has a Delinquency Department which
actively monitors members’ loans in arrears on a monthly basis. Delinquent members are
contacted and reminded of their responsibility to repay their loans in accordance with the loan
agreement signed between them and the Society. The Department has the authority to seize
and liquidate Members’ share savings and other collateral to recover the loan outstanding. The
Society may also seek further redress by referring the matter to the Commissioner for Cooperative Development to obtain judgment against the member in accordance with the Cooperative Societies Act 1971.
Allowance for impairment
The Society monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended. Allowances
are established on an aggregate basis on all loans classified as bad debt.
Investments
The Society limits its exposure to credit risk by primarily investing in liquid securities, i.e.
securities traded on the open market and in fixed deposits held with reputable financial
institutions.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
2021
Investments
Loans to members (gross)
Other assets
Cash and Cash equivalents

2020

532,483,724
624,536,675
5,293,541
301,901,736

512,545,668
736,597,527
5,861,305
304,883,968

$ 1,464,215,676

$ 1,559,888,468
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21. Financial Instruments (continued)
21.1 Financial risk management (continued)
b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society may not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due.
Management of liquidity risk
The Society’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it has
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities without incurring losses or risking damage to its
reputation. In order to achieve this objective the Society maintains a certain percentage of
its total assets in cash, fixed deposits (maturing 3 months – 1 year) and money market
instruments to meet demands for cash withdrawals and other short-term liabilities. The
Society also monitors its cash balances on a daily basis and maintains an overdraft facility of
$1 million with its bankers.
The table below shows the maturities of financial liabilities:

Due on Demand

Up to one
year

Two to five
years

Over five
years

Total

1,217,229,944
12,409,860
53,849,015

53,663,625

-

-

1,217,229,944
12,409,860
107,512,640

$1,283,488,819

$53,663,625

-

-

$1,337,152,444

Due on Demand

Up to one
year

Two to five
years

Over five
years

Total

1,248,569,982
12,529,118
55,100,621

59,721,703

-

-

1,248,569,982
12,529,118
114,822,324

$1,316,199,721

$59,721,703

-

-

$1,375,921,424

December 31, 2021
Members’ share savings
Other funds and liabilities
Members’ Deposits

December 31, 2020
Members’ share savings
Other funds and liabilities
Members’ Deposits

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
21. Financial Instruments (continued)
21.1 Financial risk management (continued)
c) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and equity prices will affect the Society’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises on financial
instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, that is, in a currency other than the
functional currency in which they are measured.
Exposure to foreign currency risk
The Society’s exposure to currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:
Year ended December 31,
2021
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

USD

CAD

Total

25,365,763
49,099,206

4,168,419

25,365,763
53,267,625

$ 74,464,969

$ 4,168,419

$ 78,633,388

22,102,262
49,736,785

3,893,318

22,102,262
53,630,103

$ 71,839,047

$ 3,893,318

$ 75,732,365

Year ended December 31,
2020
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Reporting date spot rate
USD 1
CAD 1

2021

2020

6.7625
5.4643

6.7612
5.4446

Sensitivity analysis
At December 31, 2021, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the United
States dollar (USD) with all other variables constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been $3,723,248 (2020: $3,591,952) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of USD denominated balances.
At December 31, 2021, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the Canadian
dollar (CAD) with all other variables constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
$208,421 (2020: $194,666) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of CAD denominated balances.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
21. Financial Instruments (continued)
21.1 Financial risk management (continued)
c) Market risks (continued)
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises on interestbearing financial instruments recognized in the statement of financial position.
Management of interest rate risk
The primary goal of the Society’s investment strategy is to maximize investment returns while
maintaining risks at an acceptable level. The value of the Society’s financial investments will
fluctuate due to changes in market prices of the quoted equity and debt securities. The Society
manages market risks by using the following strategies:
•

Investing a certain percentage of total assets in financial instruments and monitoring
the mix of debt and equity securities in its investment portfolio based on market
expectation

•

Monitoring the price movements of debt and equity securities on a monthly basis in
order to determine market trends

•

Investing in debt and equity securities that that do not have a documented history
of high price volatility and are easily tradable

•

Relying on advice from external professional financial advisors before making a
decision to buy or sell investments, and

•

Decisions to buy and sell investments must be approved by the Board of Directors.

Profile
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Society’s interest-bearing financial
instruments was:
Carrying Amount
2021
2020
Fixed Rate Instruments
Financial Assets
$1,182,847,260
1,276,073,695
Financial Liabilities
(107,512,640)
(114,822,324)
$1,075,334,620
Variable rate instruments

Financial assets

$1,161,251,371

Carrying Amount
2021
$272,702,019

2020

$ 274,581,871

Sensitivity analysis
The Society does not account for any fixed rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not
affect surplus or loss.
A change of 1% in interest rates would have increased or decreased variable rate instruments
by $2,757,020 (2020: $2,745,818).
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For the year ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
21. Financial Instruments (continued)
21.2 Fair value measurements
The Society measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments
valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison
with similar instruments for which observable market prices exist. Assumptions and inputs used
in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other
premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange
rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity
securities. The availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with
determining fair values. The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending
on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general
conditions in the financial markets.
As at year end, the fair value measurement of gross investments is as follows. The fair value of
all other financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value, due to their
short term nature:

Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

2021

2020

60,477,375
14,590,660
493,209,582

50,080,460
14,695,858
475,416,400

$ 568,277,617

$ 540,192,718

21.3 Capital management
The board seeks to maintain a strong capital base, to maintain member and creditor confidence.
The Society defines capital as total members’ equity and reserves. There were no changes in the
Society’s approach to capital management during the year. The Society is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirement.
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22. Subsequent Events
The Society evaluated all events that occurred from January 1, 2022 through March 8, 2022, the date
the financial statements were available to be issued. During the period, the Society did not have any
subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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INTERVIEWS
In-depth interviews were conducted on 23 February 2022, by the
Nominating Committee to review the qualifications in relation
to the respective committees in which applicants expressed an
interest to serve. They were given the opportunity to discuss
what contribution they were prepared to make to the Society
and made of an expectation that they would give generously
of their time and talent should they be elected to serve by the
membership. Each applicant was given the opportunity to ask
questions and obtain clarification on any credit union related
matter. The profiles of all nominees are included to the end of
the report.

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
Chairman: Ms. Tracey Elcock
Secretary to the Board / Independent Director*:
Mr. Roger Bertrand
Member: Mr. Christopher Miles Dillon
The Nominating Committee Chairman was appointed by the Board
of Directors at the Board Meeting held Thursday 18 November
2022. Its members included an independent director* or one who
was not vying for re-election at the upcoming Annual General
Meeting and a long-standing credit union member who served
previously in the said capacity. The terms of reference for the
Committee were developed in compliance with Bye-law 37(k).
All applications were processed and the selected “fit and
proper” nominees were as follows:
Board Of Directors

Six (6) Nominees

Credit Committee

Three (3) Nominees

Supervisory Committee

The number of elected members required for each position
at the Annual General Meeting is indicated below:
3 members

Credit Committee

3 members

Supervisory Committee

5 members

ORIENTATION SESSION
An orientation seminar was conducted virtually on March 05,
2022 and all nominees were invited to attend. This session
was facilitated by the Committee Chairman and experienced
support was given by outgoing Assistant Secretary to the Board,
Mr. Cole Patrick. The session was designed to be collaborative
in nature and to enlighten participants about the credit union
movement and VENTURE Credit Union; as well as to clarify the
roles and responsibilities of all the committees.
All nominees were invited to participate in the annual VENTURE’s
Education Committee Webinar held on Tuesday, 22 March 2022.
The session was entitled, “Understanding VENTURE’s Financial
Statements” and provided them with an opportunity to develop
rudimentary financial concepts and ask questions pertinent to
the Society’s core business.

Six (6) Nominees

Board of Directors
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NOTICE TO SERVE
Notice was given, via print and electronic media including emails,
to VENTURE members inviting applications from those interested
in serving on the Credit and Supervisory Committees, and the
Board of Directors; to submit nominations forms, completed
in their entity on or before 16 February 2022.

CONCLUSION
The Nominating Committee forms an integral component of
the Board of Directors’ fiduciary responsibilities and corporate
governance mandate. A recommendation is that the Board of
Directors appoints the Nominating Committee earlier in the new
term; so that more time can be devoted to reviewing the Bye
Laws related to the selection criteria and the existing process
for nominees’ selection.
On behalf of the Committee, we take the opportunity to
congratulate all members who offered themselves as volunteers
in this the 25th year, and we look forward to working with you
as we are, “Proud to be VENTURE”.
Respectfully submitted,

REVIEW OF NOMINATION FORMS
All application forms were reviewed to ensure they were
properly completed and in compliance with the stated guidelines,
including the submission of a Certificate of Good Character; as
well as being in good financial standing with VENTURE Credit
Union and any other financial institution. All applicants were
found to be in good financial standing. However, two forms were
submitted after the deadline date and therefore could not be
processed for consideration. These members were contacted
and were encouraged to apply again, when advertised, ensuring
the completed forms are submitted on time.

Tracey Elcock
Chairman
March 23, 2022
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NOMINATIONS FOR SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Ayanna Miguel-Rennie
Synergistic Outsourcing Limited – Managing Director
PGDip Mediation Studies
MSc. International Management
BSc. Social Science
Certified Mediator - Mediation Board of T&T
Professional Conflict & Productivity Coach

Leon Roach
Tunapuna/Piarco Regional Corporation – Alderman

Manchan Sonachansingh
Semi-Retired – Consultant

Ministry of Works and Transport – URP – Assistant
Manager

LL.B. – Higher Diploma

Served on the following:

M.Sc. Accounting & Finance

• Former Airport Operations Supervisor – JetBlue
• Chairman/PRO – Malick Folk Performing
Company

Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• Supervisory Committee 2021-2022

Patrick Taylor

CPA, CGA - Institute of Chartered Accountants
B.Com Economics
Served on the following:
• Leadership roles in Co-operative Bank, The
Credit Union League & VENTURE Credit Union
• Leadership roles in various communities,
entities in Canada and T&T

Sherlene Bass
National Training Agency – Accounts Clerk

Wendell Yearwood
YTEPP – Curriculum Specialist

MBA, Dip Sup. Mgr., Prof.-Cert. Corporate &
Diplomatic Comm. (UWI)

ACCA Affiliate

Post Graduate Diploma

Certified Accounting Technician (CAT)

MSc Project Management

Independent Consultant - HSSE, Project
Engineering & Business Administration Services

Certificate in Supervisory Management
(Distinction)

Bachelor of Education

Served on the following:
• Youth Counselor - YTC Outreach Programme
• Former Board Chairman - Circular Courts Ltd.
• Former Director/Co-Founder - Green Tee
Golf Club Ltd.

Certificate in Emotional Intelligence

Served on the following at VENTURE Credit
Union:

National Gas Company – Custody Transfer Technician
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Certificate in Anger Management
Served on the following:
• Board Member – Trinbago Woodwind and
Brass Orchestra
• Secretary of HSE Committee – National
Training Agency
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• Supervisory Committee - 2nd Alternate –
2020-2021
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NOMINATIONS FOR CREDIT COMMITTEE

Bernadine Warrick
YARA Trinidad Limited – Human Resource Specialist

Denis Basso
Retired - Auditor

M.B.A Business

B.A. Degree, Accounting & Sociology

Ruth Natasha Williams
National Library and Information Systems Authority
(NALIS) - Librarian I

Human Resource/Project Management/Event
Manager Certificate

Diploma: Project Management

AAS Management with Accounting

Served on the following at Arouca Credit Union:

B.BA. Finance

Board Member – Couva Chamber/Interclub/Rotary

• President and Treasurer
Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• Credit Committee

M.Sc. Public Sector Management

Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• Board of Directors (Alternate)
• Education Committee
• Children’s Foundation (Director)
• Credit Committee – over 24 years

Master of Library and Information Studies
Served on the following:
• Young Ladies Empowerment
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NOMINATIONS FOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Andre Edwards
National Gas Company – Manager, Enterprise
Information System

DeNyssa Christom-Furlonge
Ministry of Education – Teacher III

Gabriel O’Brien
YARA Accounting Supervisory - Retired

Post Graduate Diploma in Education (Distinction)

Farmer/Financial Consultant

B.Sc. Mathematics & Computer Sciences

M.Sc. Management Studies (Distinction)

AMA Certificate Financial Accounting, Roytec

M.Sc. Computer Science

B.A. (Hons) Business Management

Served on the following:

Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• ICT Committee
• Supervisory Committee - Member 2018 - 2022
• Supervisory Committee - Chairman 2021 -2022

Certificate - Public Relations

• Hydro Agri Credit Union
• Past President San Fernando Lions Club
• Current Board Member – San Fernando
Lions Club
• Carnival Judge - San Fernando Carnival
Committee
Served on the following at VENTURE Credit
Union:

Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• Education Committee – Member 2018/2019
• Supervisory Committee - Member 2019-2022

•
•
•
•
•

Hayden Ferreira
Engineering and Management - Consultant
B.Sc. Engineering
EMBA
Served on the following at GRASTAFF Credit Union:
• Board Member - over 20 Years
• President - 8 Years
Served on the following at VENTURE Credit Union:
• Board of Directors - 4 Years
• President - 3 Years
Served on the following:
• Service in Education, Development of TVET
Apprenticeship – PLIAP
• Lecturer - MBA Students in Operations
Management
• Chairman, CARIRI
• Board Member, NESC
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Former Board Member
1st Alternate Board of Directors 2021 – 2022
Former Credit Committee – Chairman
Former 5K Committee – Chairman
Education Committee – Member 2021 - 2022

Joanne La Veau-James
Innovative Computer Training Center Ltd - Chief
Operating Officer/Director

Terri Teesdale-Richardson
Reliability Maintenance Services Limited - HSE
Specialist

Internal Auditor & Senior Team Lead Quality Control,
RBC – Retired

LL.B. University of London

B.Sc. Human Resource Management

B.Sc. Occupational Health Safety and
Environment (Hons)

Diploma Human Resource Management

NEBOSH General Certificate

Financial Consultant/Interior Decorator/Volunteer

Industrial Relations (Certificate)

Served on the following:

Health and Safety Specialist for the last 15 years

• Director/Secretary & Chief Operations Officer –
Innovative Computer Training Center (ICTC) Ltd
• Consultant to Chief Marketing & Financial
Officer – Victoria Foods Grab & Go

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

Aspiring Attorney-at-Law
Served on the following:
• Youth Leader, Children Coordinator, Senior
Citizens Ministry (Religious)
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ANNUAL BUDGET 2022
REVENUE

$

Interest on loans

52,541,103

Investment Income

25,194,499

Other Income

2,520,018

Total Revenue

80,255,620

EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs

23,263,192

Expected credit losses

10,534,972

Occupancy costs

4,868,316

Depreciation and amortisation

4,409,108

Office expenses

2,641,024

Professional fees

2,102,159

CUNA insurance

1,671,187

Interest on members’ deposits and savings

1,095,758

Board and committee expenses

890,421

Advertising and promotions

800,000

AGM expenses

500,000

Other finance costs

348,204

Insurance

332,526

Co-operative costs

250,845

Education

178,000

Other expenses

499,140

Total Operating Expenditure

54,384,850

Total Strategic Expenditure

1,393,667

Total Expenditure

55,778,517

Net Surplus

24,477,103

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Building acquisition

11,000,000

Computer software & equipment

5,024,375

Other

3,924,380
19,948,755
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RECOMMENDATIONS AND RESOLUTIONS
RECOMMENDATIONS
Distribution of Surplus
1.

Dividend: The Board would make its recommendation at
the Annual General Meeting on 9th April 2022.
PROPOSED BY: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESOLUTIONS

1. Appointment of Auditors
BE IT RESOLVED that the firm BDO be re-appointed
Auditors for the financial period 1st January 2022 to 31st
December 2022.
PROPOSED BY: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

or delinquent loans in pursuance of the recoveries procedure
of the society.
AND WHEREAS VENTURE’s efforts to recover 509
accounts valued at the sum of $25,552,360.31 have proven
unsuccessful to date.
AND WHEREAS VENTURE has previously made loan loss
provisions which fully cover the amount of $25,552,360.31.
AND WHEREAS the Board will continue to pursue the
recovery of bad debts or delinquent loans, even after they
have been written off.
BE IT RESOLVED that 509 accounts in the sum $25,552,360.31
be written-off during the 2022 financial year.
PROPOSED BY: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2. Maximum Liability
WHEREAS the provisions of the Co-operative Societies
Act, Chapter 81:03, Regulation 14, states:
• “14 (1) Every Society shall, from time to time, fix
at a general meeting the Maximum Liability it may
incur in respect of loans or deposits, whether from
members or non-members.

Status

•

(2) The Maximum Liability fixed under subregulation (1) shall be subject to the approval of the
Commissioner, who may at any time reduce it.

•

(3) No Society shall receive loans or deposits in
excess of the maximum liability approved or fixed by
the Commissioner.”

AND WHEREAS the Maximum Liability refers to the
maximum sum that a Society can borrow from a financial
institution or that limit that can be owed to depositors.
AND WHEREAS the current Maximum Liability is set
at TT$115 million dollars by the Commissioner for
Cooperative Development.

16

$1,283,247.87

Deceased

24

$881,669.54

Uncollectible

442

$22,708,653.77

Uneconomical to pursue

12

$4,695.08

Unenforceable

15

$674,094.05

TOTAL

509

$25,552,360.31

Note:
•

Bad Debt – A loan that has been identified as
over 365 days in arrears that is no longer deemed
recoverable but not yet written off.

•

Deceased – The Credit Union has received
notification of the deceased member (Death
Certificate) and there are insufficient funds to fully
discharge the debt. All loan collateral were realized /
CUNA benefits were processed / no insurance policy.
The estate of the member is in a court of law. The
Credit Union will file a claim against the member’s
estate for liquidation of the balance at the time the
estate is settled.

•

Uncollectable – A debt becomes uncollectible when:

PROPOSED BY: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3. Bad Debt Write-Off
WHEREAS VENTURE Credit Union Co-operative Society
Limited (VENTURE) makes every effort to recover bad debts

PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

Abscond/Skip account - All reasonable steps have
been taken to trace the members’ whereabouts but
have proven unsuccessful.

•

BE IT RESOLVED that the Maximum Liability of VENTURE
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited be recommended
to be set at TT$125 million dollars.

|

Loan Balance

Abscond

AND WHEREAS the Board of Directors is now
recommending an increase of this Maximum Liability
from the approved amount of TT$115 million to TT$125
million given the Credit Union’s current and projected
levels of operations.

84

No. of
Accounts

2021
a.

The member is unable to secure
employment due to disability or
incarceration.

b.

The likelihood of ultimate repayment
diminishes.

•

Uneconomical to collect – The cost of pursuing the
amount to be written off will exceed the debt owing.

•

Unenforceable – Loan for which no source
documentation is available to substantiate the claim,
loan falls outside of legal jurisdiction either because
the member is overseas or the loan is time barred,
four years may have passed since recovery action
had been instigated against a member and the loan
was last acknowledged.
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Although these bad debt accounts will be removed from the
active loan portfolio, there will be continued follow-up action
of some accounts through our external debt collectors.
In alignment with our Policy, all written off accounts will be
recorded on AV Knowles’ database for further recovery
action. Additionally, all debts will continue to be lodged at
the TransUnion Credit Bureau as a permanent record and
available to all financial institutions through a standard credit
check. Also, and in keeping with our Policy, accounts have been
filed as disputes at The Commissioner for Co-operatives as an
additional measure to secure judgments as far as possible.
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Covers funeral costs, outstanding
debt and other final expenses.
Premiums starting at $52.80 per
month
Get up to $100,000.00 in coverage.

Critical illnesses covered: Cancer, stroke
heart attack, coma, major burns and
paralysis
Get up to $300,000.00 in coverage

Each plan covers you and up to 5 family members (including parents & children).

To learn more about the Family Indemnity Plan and Family Critical Illness Plan from CUNA Caribbean
Insurance Society Limited, visit cunacaribbean.com, call us at 628-CUNA(2862) or speak to your Credit Union
Representative.
Terms and Conditions apply

86| PROUD TO BE VENTURE - 25TH ANNIVERSARY

2021

ANNUAL
REPORT

PRODUCTS
& SERVICES
The Lending Centre
•
Vehicle Loans – New and Used

Insurance

Educational Events

•

Family Indemnity Plan

•

•

Debt Consolidation Loans

•

Group Health Insurance

Financial and Retirement Planning
Seminar

•

Thrift Loans

•

Life Savings / Loan Protection

•

Money Management

•

Education Loans

Deposit Insurance Fund

•

Entrepreneurship

•

Loans for Personal Expenses

•

Wills and Probates

•

Equity Residential Mortgages

Convenient Services

•

Investment

•

Residential Mortgages

•

tele-VENTURE

•

Youth Technology Workshop

•

Land Loans

•

VISA Debit Card

•

Wellness

•

Small Business Loans

•

VCU E-Services - Online Banking

•

Gender Empowerment

•

Equipment Financing

•

Silver Advantage Card

•

New Member Orientation

•

Commercial Mortgages

•

VCU Mobile App

•

Commercial Equity Mortgages

•

Quik-V

•

Other
•

Savings & Investments
•

Shares Account

•

TTD Fixed Deposit

Skills Development e.g. Candle
Making

Requirements to open an account:

1. Two (2) valid picture IDs (National ID card, Driver’s Permit, Passport)
1.1. Letter of employment addressed to VENTURE Credit Union
•

For pensioners: supporting documents such as cheque stubs or NIS contribution is required

•

For self-employed persons / business owners: certification of registration or incorporation, job letter and
payslip are required

1.2. Recent utility bill in your name such as water, electricity, telephone and/or cable
•

In cases of a utility bill not on your name, the owner of the bill must authorize you to use the bill by completing
the VENTURE Authorization Letter and providing a copy of valid ID

1.3. A minimum of $40.00 ($20 for shares and $20 registration fee)

Natasha Sookram
Branch Manager
Arouca

Brendan Sirju
Branch Manager
Couva

Keisha Prime
Branch Manager
San Fernando
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW:
Girwar and Deonarine
Attorney-at-Law
No. 17-19 Court Street, San Fernando

Johnson, Camacho and Singh
5th Floor Newtown Centre,
Maraval Road, Port of Spain

HOBSONS
Attorneys-at-Law & Notaries Public
Third Floor, Sagicor Center
Nos 21-25 Independence Avenue, San Fernando

Michael A.A. Quamina
Attorney-at-Law
Chancery Chambers, No. 108 Duke Street, Port of Spain

Hunte Williams
7B Pro Queen Street
Arima

MEMBER OF:
Association of Co-operative Credit Union
Presidents of Trinidad and Tobago (ACCUPTT)

Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society Limited (CFF)
Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit Insurance
Fund Co-operative Society Limited (TTCUDIF)

AUDITORS:
BDO
2nd Floor CIC Building
No. 122-124 Frederick Street
Port-of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago

BANKERS:
First Citizens Bank Limited
RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited

Republic Bank Limited
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited
The JMMB Group

INSURERS:

CIC Insurance Brokers Limited
CUNA Caribbean Insurance Society Limited

Global Financial Brokers Limited
Trinidad and Tobago Credit Union Deposit Insurance Fund
Co-operative Society Limited

1-868-225-4VCU (4828)

www.venturecreditunion.com

Head Office
2 Noel Street North,
Couva 550623
Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

San Fernando Branch
63 Rushworth Street, San Fernando
Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

Arouca Branch
233 Eastern Main Road, Arouca
Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

Administrative Office:
1280 Southern Main Road,
Couva 550623
Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

